
 

 

SOUTHEND-ON-SEA CITY COUNCIL 
 

Development Control Committee 
 

Date: Wednesday, 1st February, 2023 
Time: 2.00 pm 

 
Place: Jubilee Room (Committee Room 1), Civic Centre 

Contact: Tim Row - Principal Democratic Services  Officer  
Email: committeesection@southend.gov.uk  

 
 

A G E N D A 
  
1   Apologies for Absence  

  
2   Declarations of Interest  

  
3   Supplementary Report  
 The supplementary report by the Executive Director (Growth and Housing) will  

provide additional information (if any) on the items referred to on the Agenda  
and will be available on the morning of the meeting. 
  

**** Contents List and Introduction  
  

**** Reports on Applications with Pre-Meeting Site Visit  
  

4   22/01151/FULM - Laburnums, 20 Chalkwell Avenue, Westcliff on Sea 
(Chalkwell Ward) (Pages 9 - 84) 
  

**** Reports on Enforcement of Planning Control  
  

5   21/00290/UNAU_B - 42 Tyrone Road, Thorpe Bay (Thorpe Ward) 
(Pages 85 - 100) 
  

6   19/00204/UNAU_B - 34 Retreat Road, Westcliff-on-Sea (Milton Ward) 
(Pages 101 - 110) 
 

 
 
TO: The Chairman & Members of the Development Control Committee: 
 Councillor N Ward (Chair) 
 Councillors M Borton (Vice-Chair), M Berry, K Buck, A Dear, M Dent, F Evans, 

D Garston, S Habermel, D Jarvis, A Jones, C Mulroney, M Sadza, I Shead, 
A Thompson, C Walker and R Woodley 

 
 
 
 
PLEASE NOTE: The minibus for the site visits will depart from the bus stop at the 
front of the Civic Centre at 11.00 a.m. 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 01st February 2023 
 

WARD APP/REF NO. ADDRESS 
 

Pre-Meeting Site Visit Applications Report 

Chalkwell 22/01151/FULM 
Laburnums 

20 Chalkwell Avenue 
 
 

Enforcement Report 

Thorpe 21/00290/UNAU_B 
42 Tyrone Road 

Thorpe Bay 

Milton 19/00204/UNAU_B 
34 Retreat Road 
Westcliff-On-Sea 

 
 

 

1



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

 

2



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

INTRODUCTION 
 
(i) Recommendations in capitals at the end of each report are those of the 

Executive Director (Growth & Housing), are not the decision of the Committee 
and are subject to Member consideration. 

 
(ii) All plans have been considered in the context of the City Council's Environmental 

Charter.  An assessment of the environmental implications of development 
proposals is inherent in the development control process and implicit in the reports. 

 
(iii) Reports will not necessarily be dealt with in the order in which they are printed. 
 
(iv) The following abbreviations are used in the reports: - 

 
CIL - Community Infrastructure Levy 
DAS -  Design & Access Statement 
DEFRA -  Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
DPD - Development Plan Document 
EA -  Environmental Agency 
EPOA -  Essex Planning Officer’s Association  
JAAP - Southend Airport and Environs Joint Area Action Plan 
MHCLG - Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
NDG - National Design Guide 
NDSS - Nationally Described Space Standards 
NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework 
PPG -  National Planning Practice Guidance 
RAMS - Recreation disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy 
SCAAP - Southend Central Area Action Plan 
SPD - Supplementary Planning Document 
SSSI - Sites of Special Scientific Interest.  A national designation. SSSIs 

are the country's very best wildlife and geological sites.  
SPA - Special Protection Area.  An area designated for special protection 

under the terms of the European Community Directive on the 
Conservation of Wild Birds. 

Ramsar Site - Describes sites that meet the criteria for inclusion in the list of 
Wetlands of International Importance under the Ramsar 
Convention.  (Named after a town in Iran, the Ramsar Convention 
is concerned with the protection of wetlands, especially those 
important for migratory birds) 

 
 

3



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

Background Papers 
 
(i) Planning applications and supporting documents and plans 
(ii) Application worksheets and supporting papers 
(iii) Non-exempt contents of property files 
(iv) Consultation and publicity responses 
(v) NPPF and PPG including the NDG 
(vi) NDSS 
(vii) Core Strategy  
(viii) Development Management Document 
(ix) London Southend Airport & Environs JAAP 
(x) SCAAP 
(xi)  Design and Townscape Guide 
(xii)  Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement 
(xiii) Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments 
(xiv) Essex Coast RAMS SPD 
(xv) CIL Charging Schedule 
(xvi) Southend Electric Vehicles Charging Infrastructure SPD 
 
NB Other letters and papers not taken into account in preparing this report but received 

subsequently will be reported to the Committee either orally or in a supplementary 
report.  

 
 
 
 

 

4



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

Use Classes 
(Generally in force from 1st September 2020)  
 
Class B1         Business  
Class B2         General industrial  
Class B8         Storage or distribution  
Class C1         Hotels  
Class C2         Residential institutions  
Class C2A       Secure residential institutions  
Class C3         Dwellinghouses  
Class C4         Houses in multiple occupation  
Class E           Commercial, Business and Service  
Class F.1         Learning and non-residential institutions  
Class F.2         Local community 
Sui Generis     A use on its own, for which any change of use will require planning 
permission.  
 
Deleted Use Classes  
(Limited effect on applications for prior approval and other permitted 
development rights until 31st July 2021) 
 
Class A1         Shops  
Class A2         Financial and professional services  
Class A3         Restaurants and cafes  
Class A4         Drinking establishments  
Class A5         Hot food takeaways  
Class D1         Non-residential institutions  
Class D2         Assembly and leisure  
 

 

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Development Control Committee 
Protocol for pre meeting site visits 
Version - 9th September 2013 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
PROTOCOL FOR PRE – MEETING SITE VISITS 

 
 
Purpose of Visits 

(i) The purpose of the site visits is to enable Councillors on the Development Control 
Committee an opportunity to inspect sites of proposed developments or development 
which has already been carried out and to enable Members to better understand the 
impact of that development. 

(ii) It is not the function of the visit to receive representations or debate issues. 

(ii) There will be an annual site visit to review a variety of types and scales of 
development already carried out to assess the quality of previous decisions. 

Selecting Site Visits 
 
(i) Visits will normally be selected by (a) the Executive Director (Growth & Housing) or 

the Director of Planning and the reasons for selecting a visit will be set out in his 
written report; or (b) by their duly nominated deputy; or (c) by a majority decision of 
the Development Control Committee, whose reasons for making the visit should be 
clear.  

(ii) Site visits will only be selected where there is a clear, substantial benefit to be 
gained. 

(iii) Arrangements for visits will not normally be publicised or made known to applicants 
or agents except where permission is needed to go on land. 

(iv) Councillors will be accompanied by at least one Planning Officer. 

Procedure on Site Visits 

(i) The site will be inspected from the viewpoint of both applicant(s) and other persons 
making representations and will normally be unaccompanied by applicant or other 
persons making representations. 

(ii) The site will normally be viewed from a public place, such as a road or footpath. 

(iii) Where it is necessary to enter land or a building to carry out a visit a representative of 
both the applicant(s) and any other persons making representations will normally be 
given the opportunity to be present.  If either party is not present or declines to accept 
the presence of the other, Members will consider whether to proceed with the visit. 

(iv) Where applicant(s) and/or other persons making representations are present the 
Chairman may invite them to point out matters or features which are relevant to the 
matter being considered but will first advise them that it is not the function of the visit 
to receive representations or debate issues.  . 

 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

Reference: 22/01151/FULM 

Application Type: FULL 

Ward: Chalkwell  

 

Proposal: Demolition of the existing buildings, erect part two/part three 
storey building comprising 27no. retirement living apartments 
with associated landscaping, parking and vehicle access 

Address: Laburnums 
20 Chalkwell Avenue 
Westcliff-on-sea 
Essex 
SS0 8NA 

Applicant: McCarthy Stone Retirement Lifestyles Ltd 

Agent: The Planning Bureau 

Consultation Expiry: 18th August 2022 

Expiry Date:  3rd February 2023 

Case Officer: Abbie Greenwood  

Plan Nos: LSE-2721-03-AC-100 A (Location Plan)  
LSE-2721-03-AC-102 F (Site Plan and Streetscene) 
LSE-2721-03-AC-103 G (Proposed Ground and First 
Floor Plans) 
LSE-2721-03-AC-104 H (Proposed Second Floor and 
Roof plans) 
LSE-2721-03-AC-107 J (Proposed Elevations) 
LSE-2721-03-AC-111 A (Existing Site Plan)  
PP/409/WESTCLIFF/F1 (Existing Plans and Elevations) 
MCSWESTC-01_00A (Proposed Balcony Details) 

Additional information: 
 
 

Planning Statement By PBL dated May 2022  
Design and Access Statement  
Coloured Elevations, Sections and streetscene 
External Materials Schedule reference 2721 v4 dated 
09.12.22.  
Need Assessment for Specialist Housing for Older 
People in Southend on Sea LPA by Pegasus Group 
reference P22-1083 dated 05.05.22.  

9

4



Waste Management Strategy reference LSE-2721-030AC-
WMP rev A  
Site Investigation Report by Crossfield Consulting 
reference CCL03343.CL94 dated Sept 2020 
Drainage Strategy Report by iDLtd reference 
IDL/1050/DS/001 dated March 2022  
LSE-2721-03-DE-100 D Drainage Strategy Layout  
LSE-2721-03-DE-103 A (Proposed Levels) 
Ecological Impact Assessment by Greenlink Ecology Ltd 
dated 16.09.22.  
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy by ACD reference 
MSC23711_BES Rev A dated 08.12.22. 
Landscape Design Statement by ACD reference 
MCS23711des dated 20.05.22.  
Landscape Strategy Drawing Reference MCS23711 09C 
Tree Survey and Impact Assessment by Keen 
Consultants dated May 2022   
Tree Constraints Plan reference 1496-KC-XX-YTREE-
TCP01Rev0 
Tree Protection Plan Reference 1496-KC-XX-YTREE-
TPP01RevA  
Energy Statement by Focus dated May 2022  
Acoustic Assessment by Cass Allen reference RP01-
22212-R1 rev 1 dated 20.05.22.  
Archaeological Desk Based Assessment by RPS 
reference JAC26670 dated Sept 2020 
Heritage Statement by Graham Keevill dated May 2022  
Transport Statement by PB reference 504.0032/TS/2 
dated April 2022  
Travel Information Pack  
Travel Plan reference 504.0032/TP/2 Rev 2 dated May 
2022  
Daylight and Sunlight Report by Waldrams reference 
2560 dated 22.04.22.  
Shadow Study LSE-2721-03-AC-109-B  
Topographical Survey reference 28911 dated August 
2022  
Statement of Community Involvement dated May 2022  
Financial Viability Assessment by Atitlan Consulting 
dated June 2022  
Letters from Atitlan Consulting dated 06 October 2022 
and 16 November 2022  
Letter from Derrick Wade Waters (Surveyors) reference 
HPVT22045.220928.1 date 28.09.22  

10



Recommendation: DELEGATE to the Executive Director (Growth and 
Housing), Director of Planning or Service Manager - 
Development Control to GRANT PLANNING 
PERMISSION subject to CONDITIONS following the 
completion of a LEGAL AGREEMENT under section 106 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) 

 
 

  

11



 

 

 
 

1 Site and Surroundings 
 

1.1 The existing detached building on the site is a large Edwardian house most recently 
used as a care home but now vacant.  It has a feature turret to the front and is 
articulated  with a number of decorative elements including tall curved bays with tile 
decoration and a grand porch. It is typical of the older buildings seen in Chalkwell 
Avenue. The building is showing signs of neglect including loss of the original balcony 
to the front. A large modern conservatory has been added to the east side towards the 
front and two large external fire escape stairs to the rear. There is a double garage to 
the rear of the site which is the same age as the main building. The rear of the site is 
overgrown. Aside from its deteriorating condition, the building makes a generally 
positive contribution to the streetscene of Chalkwell Avenue but has no statutory or 
non-statutory heritage designations.    

 
1.2 To the north of the site is a group of semi-detached and then detached single family 

houses with deep frontages and feature double bays and chimneys. To the south, the 
site at the junction with Imperial Avenue was redeveloped in the 1980s and contains a 
modern sheltered housing scheme arranged as two linked wings. This development is 
typical of 1980s architecture, lacking in detailing and with shorter proportions than the 
rest of the street.   

 
1.3 Chalkwell Avenue and the wider Chalkwell Hall Estate is generally characterised by 

large well-articulated early C20 houses and is one of the City’s most characterful 
housing areas. Most properties are 2-3 storeys with generously proportioned pitched 
roofs often with accommodation in the roofspace. The dwellings are generally well-
detailed with a range of features including bays and gables, feature entrances and 
dormers. They are mostly red brick and/or render with red/brown tiled roofs and tall 
windows. Decorative timbering and tile hanging and rough cast render are 
commonplace and add further articulation and interest to the streetscene contributing 
to local distinctiveness. The designs of the individual properties are varied but there is 
a cohesiveness in style, level of articulation and materials which gives the area a 
recognisable character. 

  

12



1.4 The dwellings are situated on a consistent and generous building line facing Chalkwell 
Avenue with planted frontages, most with some parking, and gardens to the rear. Some 
of the buildings in the area including along the upper section of Chalkwell Avenue and 
Imperial Avenue close to the site have been converted to flats or retirement homes 
and have been significantly extended to the rear and this has impacted on the grain of 
the area but generally a consistent scale of development is maintained to the front 
facing the street.  

 
1.5 Chalkwell Avenue, a classified road, is a key route from the A13 to the seafront. The 

site is in Flood zone 1 (low risk). There are no specific policy designations in this 
location. 

 
2 The Proposal 

 
2.1 The proposal seeks permission to demolish the existing buildings and erect a part 

two/part three storey building comprising 27 no. retirement living apartments with 
associated landscaping and parking. The proposed building has a stepped frontage 
which is a maximum of 26.5m wide with an eaves height of 8m and a ridge height of 
11.9m. It is a maximum of 52.7m deep including the projecting gables to the front but 
is split into 3 sections, a front wing 22m deep, a rear wing 12.9m deep and a narrower 
linking section of 17.8m.  

 
2.2 The proposal would be constructed of red brick and rough cast render with a red tile 

roof.  
 

2.3 The proposal’s  27 retirement apartments comprise 11x 1 bed units and 16 x 2 bed 
units including 3 wheelchair units and 21 off street parking spaces accessed via the 
existing crossover onto Chalkwell Avenue. 16 of the 27 apartments have a private 
balcony or terrace and there is a communal garden of some 110 sqm. The proposal 
also includes a reception area, communal lounge, guest suite, scooter store and refuse 
store. At least one resident of each flat will be required to be over the age of 60.  

 
2.4 The design detailing of the proposal has been amended during the course of the 

application.  
 

3 Relevant Planning History 
  
3.1 The most relevant planning history for the determination of this application is shown 

on Table 1 below: 
 
Table 1: Relevant Planning History of the Application Site 

Reference Description  Outcome  
87/2072 Alterations to existing fire escape and formation 

of lobby at rear 
Granted  

 
4 Representation Summary 

 
Call-in 
 

4.1 The application has been called in to Development Control Committee by Councillor 
Folkard. 

 
 
 
 

13



Public Consultation 
 

4.2 58 neighbours were consulted, a site notice displayed and a press notice published. 8 
letters of representation have been received from 4 different households raising the 
following summarised issues: 

 
• The area is characterised by single family dwellings with large gardens to the rear 

so the proposal will be out of character. Kingswell is a corner site so does not 
justify this change. 

• The depth of the building is out of character with the area including those on 
Imperial Avenue.  

• The scale of the building generally is out of character and conflicts with the grain 
of the area.  

• Loss of existing historic building which makes a positive contribution to the 
character of Chalkwell Avenue.  

• The proposal will be overbearing on neighbours - the building extends 
significantly further into the site than the existing building and will be the full length 
of the neighbours’ garden at 2-3 storeys.  

• Loss of privacy, 10m separation to the boundary is not sufficient to prevent 
overlooking. Other flatted development in the area achieves a greater separation 
distance. Impact on mental health of neighbours.  

• Overlooking can still occur from Juliette balconies. 
• Overshadowing and loss of sunlight to neighbouring amenity areas especially in 

winter - the shadow diagram is not accurate. 
• The rear building line should be no more than at Kingswell to the south.  
• The proposal for a much more intensive use will result in noise and disturbance 

of neighbouring properties. Sound attenuation is needed. The noise report does 
not assess the impact of the development on neighbours. Concern over noise 
and fumes from the proposed parking area and from deliveries and collections to 
the building.  

• Lack of amenity space for some units which do not have private balconies or 
terraces. The communal garden will not be enough for these residents.  

• The location of the required wheelchair units and their parking spaces is unclear.  
• There is not enough disabled parking.  
• Lack of parking - 0.77 per unit is not enough. There is no visitor parking. The 

proposal will result in on street parking.  
• Concern that a refuse lorry will need to reverse into the site against the traffic 

flow. 
• Impact on bats, foxes and badgers.  
• The proposal conflicts with national and local planning policy and guidance.  
• The Daylight and Sunlight report was produced before the latest amendment to 

the guidelines.  
• Loss of trees on the south boundary is positive as these are causing a nuisance 

for neighbours. 
• The demolition of the building goes against the aims of  sustainable development 

and climate change. It should be retained and reused and extended.  
• The benefit of 26 additional houses is not outweighed by the harm caused by this 

proposal.  
 

Officer Comment: These concerns are noted and those that represent material planning 
considerations have been taken into account in the assessment of the application. 
However, they are not found to represent a reasonable basis to refuse planning 
permission in the circumstances of this case. 

 
 14



Housing  
 
4.3 As a Major scheme the proposal would be required to contribute to affordable housing 

equivalent to 20% which equates to a minimum 6 units (4 x 1 bed affordable rent and 
2 x 2 bed shared ownership).  

 
On this occasion sufficient evidence has been provided to demonstrate that Anchor, a 
specialist registered provider (RP) for this accommodation type, do not believe it works 
for them. The other local RP’s which we would usually consider are focused on general 
needs accommodation, not retirement housing, so are not relevant. 
 
In this case, given the outcome of the independent financial viability review, the 
proposed surplus of £221,165 is acceptable as the financial contribution in lieu of (on 
site) affordable housing 

 
  Highways  

 
4.4 The applicant has demonstrated the site benefits from being in a sustainable location 

with regard to public transport with good links in close proximity. 21 off street car 
parking spaces have been provided for the proposal this equates to 0.77% which is 
acceptable and this ratio has been accepted on other developments. Secure cycle 
parking can also be accommodated to policy compliant levels. The applicant has also 
provided TRICS analysis which has demonstrated the proposal will not have a 
detrimental impact on the local highway network.  

 
A travel plan and travel packs will also be provided and should be conditioned.  
 
Given the above information and the detailed transport statement there are no highway 
objections to this proposal. 

 
  Travel Plan Officer  
 

4.5 The Travel Plan and TIP (Travel Information Pack) are generally well organised and 
thought-out with good information but a number of amendments are suggested which 
need to be actioned before these documents can be agreed.  

 
  Environmental Health  
 

4.6 The Acoustic Assessment assesses the potential noise impacts from local road traffic 
noise and plant and equipment and deliveries at the Aldi store on London Road (to the 
rear, north-east of the site). The report indicates that internal noise levels can be 
mitigated with acoustic glazing and building structure and recommends that alternative 
means of ventilation are available. However the report finds the external private 
amenity noise levels on the western facade are in excess of the recommended noise 
levels in BS8233 by 10 dB(A). This is excused by the report but mitigation is required 
and needs to be evaluated. This can be covered by a condition. 

 
The Site Investigation report has found that there is a low risk from land contamination 
due the site history. This is consistent with any information that the council holds. 
 
A comprehensive environmental construction method statement will need to be 
conditioned as there is the potential to cause disturbance from noise and dust to the 
adjacent residential properties.  

 
  
 15



 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)  
 

4.7 No objections subject to a condition requiring the construction method statement to 
address surface water during construction, agreement from Anglian Water and 
modelling of drainage flows.  

 
  Archaeology Curator  

 
4.8 No objections.  
 

  Private Sector Housing  
 
4.9 No comments to make.  
 

  Essex Fire Service  
 
4.10 No objections.  
 

  Chalkwell Ward Residents Association  
 
4.11 Object to the proposal on the following grounds: 

 
• There is an over supply of retirement housing in the vicinity of the site with 4 

developments close by. 
• Loss of landmark building which is important to local character on this key route.  
• The footprint of the building is too large.  
• Overlooking of neighbours.  
• Impact on local services which are already under stress.  
• Lack of visitor parking which will result in greater on street parking. 
• Concern that the heating of the units will be unsustainable and unaffordable.  
• Impact on bats. 
• Controls over sub letting  
 

  NHS 
 

4.12 The proposal is likely to have a severe impact on the health services and the surgeries 
which operate in the vicinity of the site. The case for independent living is noted 
however the existing GP surgeries do not have the capacity to accommodate the 
additional growth. The capacity of primary healthcare facilities in the area are already 
below the standards of provision for the existing population. The deficit would be 
unsustainable if unmitigated. Using our standard formula which is based on the number 
of dwellings and the requirement for 120sqm of floorspace per 1750 patients, and an 
average build cost per metre for new build health centres, a contribution of £12,700 is 
requested towards the creation of additional floorspace for GP surgeries. This should 
be included in the S106 for this site. [Officer Comment: Funding for community 
infrastructure including primary NHS services such as GP surgeries is secured through 
Community Infrastructure Levy which is explained at 7.88  of this report] 

 
  Essex Badger Protection Group  
 

4.13 The Essex Badger Protection Group is currently aware of eleven badger setts within 
1km of the application site, with the area known to contain a significant urban badger 
population. but none of these setts are considered close enough to the proposal to be 
at direct risk of harm. The amended Ecological Survey is acceptable in terms of 
mitigation for badgers at the site and during construction.  

16



 
Cadent Gas  

 
4.14 No objections subject to an informative regarding contact details for the applicant.  
 

  Anglian Water  
 
4.15 Southend Water Recycling Centre will have available capacity for these flows. Full 

details of the surface water management strategy should be conditioned.  
 

  Natural England  
 
4.16 The site falls within the Zone of Influence for one or more European designated sites. 

A contribution to RAMS should be secured via a S106.  
 

5 Planning Policy Summary 
  

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 

5.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021) 
 

5.3 Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards (2015) 
 

5.4 Policies Core Strategy (2007): Policy KP1 (Spatial Strategy), Policy KP2 (Development 
Principles), Policy CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), Policy CP4 (The Environment 
and Urban Renaissance), Policy CP8 (Dwelling Provision). 

 
5.5 Development Management Document (2015): Policy DM1 (Design Quality), Policy 

DM2 (Low Carbon and Development and Efficient Use of Resources), Policy DM3 
(Efficient and Effective Use of Land), Policy DM8 (Residential Standards), Policy DM15 
(Sustainable Transport Management). 

 
5.6 Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 

 
5.7 Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement (2015) 

 
5.8 Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019) 

 
5.9 Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for new development Supplementary Planning 

Document (2021) 
 

5.10 Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2020) 

 
5.11 Planning Obligations: A Guide to Section 106 and Developer Contributions (2015) 

 
5.12 Interim Affordable Housing Policy (2016) 

 
5.13 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 

 
5.14 Southend-on-Sea Vehicle Crossing Policy & Application Guidance (2021) 

 
 
 
 

 17



6 Planning Considerations 
 
6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the 

development, the proposed dwelling mix, the design and impact on the character and 
appearance of the area, the standard of accommodation and residential amenity for 
future and neighbouring occupiers, traffic and parking implications, energy and water 
use sustainability, refuse and recycling storage, flooding and drainage, tree impacts, 
ecology and mitigation for impact on designated sites, developer contributions and CIL 
liability. 

 
Appraisal 

 
7  Principle of Development 

 
7.1 The provision of new high quality housing is a key Government objective.  

 
7.2 Paragraph 117 of the NPPF states ‘Planning policies and decisions should promote an 

effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding 
and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.’  

 
7.3 Amongst other policies to support sustainable development, the NPPF seeks to boost 

the supply of housing by delivering a wide choice of high quality homes. In relation to 
the efficient use of land Paragraph 124 states: 

 
124.  Planning policies and decisions should support development that makes efficient 
use of land, taking into account:  
  
a)  the identified need for different types of housing and other forms of  
development, and the availability of land suitable for accommodating it;  
b)  local market conditions and viability;  
c)  the availability and capacity of infrastructure and services – both existing and  
proposed – as well as their potential for further improvement and the scope to  
promote sustainable travel modes that limit future car use;  
d)  the desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing character and setting  
(including residential gardens), or of promoting regeneration and change; and 
e)  the importance of securing well-designed, attractive and healthy places.  

 
7.4 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that “all new development contributes to 

economic, social, physical and environmental regeneration in a sustainable way”.  
 

7.5 Policy CP4 requires that new development “maximise the use of previously developed 
land, whilst recognising potential biodiversity value and promoting good, well-
designed, quality mixed use developments” and that this should be achieved by 
“maintaining and enhancing the amenities, appeal and character of residential areas, 
securing good relationships with existing development, and respecting the scale and 
nature of that development”. 

 
7.6 Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy recognises that a significant amount of additional 

housing will be achieved by intensification (making more effective use of land) and 
requires that development proposals contribute to local housing needs. It seeks that 
80% of residential development be provided on previously developed land.  

 
 
 
 

 18



7.7 Policy DM3 of the Development Management Document states that “the  Council  will  
seek  to  support  development  that  is  well  designed  and  that  seeks  to optimise 
the use of land in a sustainable manner that responds positively to local context and  
does  not  lead  to  over-intensification,  which  would  result  in  undue  stress  on  local 
services, and infrastructure, including transport capacity”  

 
Change of use from Care Home to Older Persons Retirement Flats and The Need for 
Older Persons Accommodation  

 
7.8 Development Management Policy DM9 requires the provision of new care homes to 

be justified but does not protect existing care homes from redevelopment. There is 
therefore no objection in principle to the change of the site from care home to housing 
in this location. In relation to the need for housing for older persons the Planning 
Practice Guidance states ‘The need to provide housing for older people is critical. 
People are living longer lives and the proportion of older people in the population is 
increasing. In mid-2016 there were 1.6 million people aged 85 and over; by mid-2041 
this is projected to double to 3.2 million. Offering older people a better choice of 
accommodation to suit their changing needs can help them live independently for 
longer, feel more connected to their communities and help reduce costs to the social 
care and health systems. Therefore, an understanding of how the ageing population 
affects housing needs is something to be considered from the early stages of plan-
making through to decision-taking.’ and in respect of housing for older persons the 
Core Strategy states: ‘The 2011 Census highlights that Southend has a higher 
proportion of older people when compared to the national average. Notably, Southend 
has more adults aged 75 or over, including  those  aged  90  or  over,  comparative  to  
England  (SHMA,  2013).  Population projections indicate that the proportion of older 
people in Southend is expected to rise.’   

 
7.9 The more recent demographic projections show that for Southend, the trend of an 

ageing population is expected to pick up significantly over the next 20 years. The 
number of people in this cohort was projected to rise by 38.5% (13,518) between 2018 
and 2038, according to the 2018-based ONS population projections. 

 
7.10 The building is currently vacant but was most recently used as a care home for older 

persons not family housing. The principle of retirement flats in this location is therefore 
considered to be acceptable.  

 
Residential Accommodation Mix 

 
7.11 Policy DM7 states that ‘the Council will encourage new development to provide a range 

of dwelling sizes and types to meet the needs of people with a variety of different 
lifestyles and incomes.’ 

 
7.12 The proposed mix is 11 x 1 bed 2 person units and 16 x 2 bed 3 person units. This 

does not meet the requirements for policy DM7 but this mix is considered appropriate 
for a retirement facility where there are not expected to be any children living in the 
units. At least one resident of each flat will be required to be over the age of 60. In the 
case of a couple, that part of the lease is satisfied where one of the occupants is over 
60 and the other is over 55. 

 
7.13 Given that the proposal is for older persons housing only, this mix contains a good 

range of flat sizes and is considered to be compatible with the objectives of  Policy 
DM7. The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.  

 
 
 19



Affordable Housing 
 
7.14 Policy CP8 seeks an affordable housing provision of 20% for major residential 

proposals of 10-49 dwellings which should be split 60:40 between affordable rented 
and shared ownership units.  Were it to apply here, a policy compliant mix would 
comprise 2 affordable rented units and 2 shared ownership units.  

 
7.15 The need for negotiation with developers, and a degree of flexibility in applying 

affordable housing policy, is covered in Core Strategy policy CP8 that states: ‘The 
Borough Council will…enter into negotiations with developers to ensure that: 

 
…. all residential proposals of 10-49 dwellings or 0.3 hectares up to 1.99 hectares 
make an affordable housing or key worker provision of not less than 20% of the total 
number of units on site…For sites providing less than 10 dwellings (or below 0.3 ha) 
or larger sites where, exceptionally, the Borough Council is satisfied that on-site 
provision is not practical, they will negotiate with developers to obtain a financial 
contribution to fund off-site provision. The Council will ensure that any such sums are 
used to help address any shortfall in affordable housing.’ 

 
7.16 Furthermore, the responsibility for the Council to adopt a reasonable and balanced 

approach to affordable housing provision, which takes into account financial viability 
and how planning obligations affect the delivery of a development, is reiterated in the 
supporting text at paragraph 10.17 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 2.7 of 
“Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations”. 

 
7.17 In lieu of on-site affordable housing provision, the Council’s Interim Affordable Housing 

Policy provides a mechanism to calculate the amount required for a financial 
contribution towards off-site provision where a proposal can provide fully policy 
compliant affordable housing. In line with that policy and in circumstances when a 
surplus is expected to be generated, the derived figure for a scheme of this nature and 
composition and which is demonstrably able to deliver fully policy compliant affordable 
housing would be £600,772.87.  

 
7.18 A financial viability appraisal (FVA) submitted with the application concludes that a 

policy compliant affordable housing contribution is unviable in this case. The submitted 
FVA has been reviewed for this Council by an independent consultant who concludes 
a surplus of £212,519 would be available for affordable housing provision. The 
applicant has agreed that this  sum of £212,519 can be secured through the S106 
agreement as the development’s contribution for affordable housing provision. The 
Council’s Housing Team have accepted this figure and confirmed that the principle of 
a financial contribution in this case is reasonable as the applicant has demonstrated 
that on site provision of this level would be unfeasible in the circumstances applicable.   

      
7.19 Given the level of surplus calculated by the independent assessor acting on behalf of 

the Council  the proposal of a financial contribution of  £212,519  is considered to be 
justified in this specific case. Subject to securing this financial sum in the S106 
agreement, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of affordable housing 
contribution. This funding will be used by the Council to provide affordable housing in 
the city by either purchasing units or helping to fund the Council’s affordable housing 
development programme.  

 
7.20 Overall, therefore, it is considered that the principle of this type and mix of development 

in this location is consistent with the policies noted above and is acceptable subject to 
the detailed considerations set out below. 

 
 20



Design and Impact on the Character of the Area 
 

7.21 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new 
development is well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities. 

 
7.22 Paragraph 126 of the NPPF states ‘The creation of high quality, beautiful and 

sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities.’ 

 
7.23 Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document states that “all development 

should add to the overall quality of the area and respect the character of the site, its 
local context and surroundings in terms of its architectural approach, height, size, 
scale, form, massing, density, layout, proportions, materials, townscape and/or 
landscape setting, use, and detailed design features.” 

 
Loss of Existing Building 

 
7.24 The existing building is a well detailed and attractive substantial property from the early 

C20 and makes a positive contribution to the character of the area. Equally, it has no 
heritage designations. It is not a listed building or in a conservation area  nor is it on 
the Council’s local list of historic buildings. Only buildings which are statutory listed or 
in a conservation area can be protected from demolition. Therefore, there is no 
reasonable basis for requiring this approach in the regeneration of this site. The 
proposed demolition of the existing building is therefore accepted in principle.  

 
Scale, Form and Layout  

 
7.25 The existing building is a substantial property set on a large plot and, significant gaps 

are maintained to both sides of the building such that, overall, it conveys a sense of  
spaciousness to the site and its contribution to the  streetscene. The prevailing pattern 
of development within the site’s immediate environs  including the two pairs of semi-
detached dwellings towards the site’s north has a closer spacing of development facing 
the street with defined gaps in between.   

 
7.26 The proposed new building is 3 storeys to the front and rear with a part 2 storey linking 

section to the middle on the north side. It  would be set 2.1m   from the flank boundary 
with  Kingswell to the south  and some 6.4m from the boundary No 18 Chalkwell 
Avenue to the north to allow for a vehicular access on this side. The building line is 
staggered and provides a transition between the building lines to the north and south 
which are not consistent. It is considered that a suitably spacious frontage to the street 
would be maintained in line with other properties in Chalkwell Avenue. The front 
building line and separation to neighbouring properties is therefore considered to be 
consistent with local character.  

 
7.27 The proposed building projects significantly rearward into the site, reducing in width in 

the centre section. This arrangement appears primarily to take reference from the site 
layout of Kingswell to the south which has an ‘H’ plan form on a similar alignment. The 
houses to the north only occupy the front section of their sites  which is the traditional 
pattern of development in the area.  

 
 
 21



 
However , in addition to Kingswell, this pattern has been eroded over the years on 
other sites in the local vicinity of the application site including Nos 37, 45-47, 57 and 
59 Imperial Avenue close by to the east and No 46 Chalkwell Avenue to the south 
which have all been significantly extended to their rear, deep into their sites and also 
by backland and infill development at Seymour Mews and No 58 Imperial Avenue in 
the next block to the south which has been built in the former garden area of No 36 
Chalkwell Avenue. The following  factors have been given due weight in officers’ 
overall assessment of the character impact. Firstly, there have been alterations to the 
pattern of development in this immediate area such that this is now a recognisable trait 
of the pattern of development in particular northwards from the Imperial Avenue 
junction. Secondly it is considered that the depth of proposed built form will not be 
readily apparent from the street, such that the proposed development  would not, in 
this instance, cause any significant harm to the character and appearance of the 
streetscene or to the character and appearance of the site’s immediate surroundings.  

 
7.28 In terms of height and form, the submitted streetscene drawing demonstrates that the 

proposed 3 storeys to the front and the proportion of the roof does not appear out of 
scale in the wider context of Chalkwell Avenue.  

 
7.29 Overall, on balance, and as informed by the factors to which officers have given due 

weight above, the scale, form and layout of the proposal are considered to be 
acceptable and the proposal is policy compliant in this regard.  

 
Detailed Design  

 
7.30 The proposal is a traditional design which seeks to draw reference from the other 

properties in the area. It has feature gables to the front which are articulated with 
balconies and timber decoration, tall chimneys, a prominent porch and windows with 
fanlight detailing and a brick and rough cast render.  Amendments have been made 
during the course of the application such that officers consider the building’s  frontage 
to be well balanced, cohesive and ordered and subject to conditions relating to 
materials and key details, including the gables and eaves, windows including reveals 
and cills, porches and doors, chimneys and balconies it is considered that the overall 
design would have a satisfactory impact on the streetscene and character and 
appearance of the area.   

 
7.31 Overall, it is considered that the proposal would, on balance, have an acceptable 

impact on the character and appearance of the area and is policy compliant in this 
regard.  

 
  Amenity Impacts 

 
7.32 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality 

development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the 
site, immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, 
overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight 
and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design 
and Townscape Guide.  

 
7.33 The proposal is set 12.4m from the front building line stepping back to 15.2m for the 

northern section and forward to 9.9m for the projecting gables. This is consistent with 
the neighbours to the north and south. The proposal will not have an unacceptable 
impact on the front outlook of the neighbouring properties.  

 22



  Impact on neighbours to the north Nos 18 and 16  Chalkwell Avenue 
 

7.34 The development would be a minimum of 6.2m from the north boundary for the same 
depth as the neighbouring building, No 18 Chalkwell Avenue, after which the 
separation increases to 10m from the northern boundary following the stepped 
arrangement of the existing boundary towards the rear of the site. The neighbouring 
dwelling No 18 has 5 windows on its northern side facing the site. At its ground floor is 
a window to a kitchen diner which also has an outlook to the rear. Above are two flank 
landing windows and two bathroom windows. At the rear facing east, the closest 
windows at No 18 serve a kitchen/diner and bedroom. The main ground floor habitable 
room is on the northern side of No 18’s rear elevation with its outlook and private patio 
area shielded by the two storey rear projection at No 18 Chalkwell Avenue. 

 
7.35 The proposal has 6 habitable room windows (1 living room and 5 bedroom windows) 

and 3 further non habitable room windows on its north elevation facing No 18 at a 
separation of 10m from the boundary. The proposal has no projecting balconies facing 
northwards. . The proposal also has 3 further non habitable room windows in the front 
section of the building which would be 6.2m from the shared boundary and 9m from 
the flank of No 18 which can be conditioned to be obscure glazed. At second floor 
there are no proposed habitable room windows facing north towards No 18. There will 
as a result be an impact on No 18’s privacy. Of relevance, however, is that although of 
different depth and configuration, the existing building on the application site is 3.4m 
from the northern boundary and 5.9m from the flank of No 18. It has 7 windows in its 
northern elevation including a large first floor bay to a bedroom which has an outlook 
directly over the garden of No 18. The proposal would in comparison be 5.8m further 
away than the existing bay window in this location. Overall, it is considered that this 
element  of the relationship would not be significantly harmful to No 18’s privacy.      

 
7.36 Also taken into consideration is the depth of the proposal and the impact this would 

have on the outlook and sense of enclosure for habitable rooms and the rear amenity 
space of No 18.  Applying  a notional 45 degree line from the closest rear facing window 
of No 18 Chalkwell Avenue this would remain clear up to a distance of at least 15m 
from the rear of the two storey projection of the neighbour. It is also noted that the 
northern windows at ground and first floor level at No 18 are screened by the existing 
two storey rear projection so their outlook would be unaffected. In terms of its scale, 
the proposal drops to two storeys (5.1m eaves height and 6.8m max height) for a 
distance of 11.5m in the centre of the building facing the main garden area of No 18. 
This part of the development has a flat roof but it will not be used as a roof terrace 
which can be controlled by condition. It is also noted that the existing double garage 
with a pitched roof on the boundary with No 18 would be removed so this impact will 
be omitted. A  Daylight and Sunlight Assessment and Shadow Study have been 
submitted with the application. The report concludes that resultant conditions for No 
18 Chalkwell Avenue would meet the target values as set out  in  the  BRE  Guidelines  
for  daylight  (in  terms  of  VSC (Vertical Sky Component)) and  daylight  distribution)  
and sunlight  (in  terms  of  APSH (Sunlight)).  The study shows that No 18   will   largely  
see  an  improvement  in  its daylight  and  sunlight  to  the  rooms  and  windows  
overlooking  the  site with the proposed scheme in place as compared with the existing 
building.  The submitted Shadow Study illustrates the shading from the proposal as 
compared to the existing at morning, noon and afternoon in March/September, June 
and December. This shows that  the shading impact to the front, side and rear of No 
18 would be marginally improved as compared to the existing situation in June at noon 
and in March/September at 8am, noon and 4pm and very slightly impacted on the north 
side of the rear garden and at the front at 12 noon in December. The study shows that 
at   all other times the impact on shading of the amenity area of No 18 will not be 
materially different. The diagram does show a marginally worse impact on the rear 
garden of No 16 Chalkwell Avenue at 12 noon in December only when more of the 23



rear garden would be in shade as compared to the existing situation. This additional 
shading would be towards the middle to end of the garden not close to the house which 
is in shade in both scenarios. A marginal impact is also noted at the front of the property 
at this time. The study concludes that at all other times of the year there is no 
shadowing impact on this property at all.  

 
7.37 On balance, it is considered that, subject to the described conditions,  the proposal, 

would have an acceptable impact on the amenities of occupiers of No 18 and No 16 
Chalkwell Avenue in all relevant respects and that if concerns about this were identified 
regard would need to be had to the prevailing amenity impacts of the existing building 
on the site which, in the round, are considered to be comparable with those resulting 
from the proposal.  

 
  Impact on neighbour to the south Kingswell Retirement Flats 

 
7.38 Kingswell has only kitchen and landing windows on the northern flanks of its ‘H’ layout 

facing the application site. All flats in that development face east, west or south away 
from the development site. In between these wings is a communal garden area 
screened on the boundary by a large hedge. The linking section, which contains a 
secondary window to the communal lounge and the laundry room is set back some 
15m into that site.  

 
7.39 The proposal has 12 habitable room windows (6 living room and 6 bedroom windows) 

and 4 further non habitable room windows on its north elevation facing Kingswell at a 
separation of 10m from the boundary. The proposal has no projecting balconies facing 
south to limit the impact on this neighbour. The proposal also has 4 further non 
habitable room windows in the front section of the building which would be some 4m 
from the shared boundary and 5m from the flank of Kingswell but these align with the 
blank flank elevations of the neighbouring building and can be conditioned to be 
obscure glazed. Applying  a notional 45 degree line from the closest window  of 
Kingswell looking east this would be clear for a distance of at least 13m.  In respect of 
this neighbour the Daylight and Sunlight report concludes that ‘While there will be some 
noticeable impacts to 65 Imperial Avenue to the south of the site, the impacted 
windows [on the north elevation] serve small kitchens which are immediately adjoining 
to main living rooms which will be materially unaffected by the proposed scheme and  
will  remain  well  daylit.’  The Shadow Study demonstrates that the proposal, which is 
to the north side of Kingswell, would not have a material impact at any time of year or 
day. Also to be taken into consideration is the depth of the proposal  and the impact 
this would have on the outlook and sense of enclosure for the rear amenity space of 
Kingswell. The relationship is considered to be acceptable in this regard subject to the 
described conditions. Furthermore due regard should be given to  existing building on 
the site which is some 17m from the southern boundary and some 18m from the flank 
of Kingswell. It has 10 windows in its southern elevation including a large first floor 
turret to a bedroom and two external fire escapes one of which extends to the 2nd floor. 
On balance, it is considered that, subject to the described conditions, the proposal, 
would have an acceptable impact on the amenities of occupiers of Kingswell in all 
relevant respects and that, if concerns about this were identified, regard would need 
to be had to the prevailing amenity impacts of the existing building on the site which, 
in the round, are considered to be comparable with those resulting from the proposal.  

 
  Impact on neighbour to the east 63 Imperial Avenue 

 
7.40 The existing building is some 39m from the eastern boundary with the garden of No 63 

Imperial Avenue to the west which stretches past Kingswell and adjoins the application 
site.  

 24



7.41 The proposal would maintain a minimum of 16m to the east boundary to the garden of 
No 63 Imperial Avenue and 23.5m to the property itself. This distance to the boundary 
increases to 17.9m for the northern section of the development. The proposal has 11 
habitable room windows (4 living room and 7 bedroom windows) and 1 further non 
habitable room window on its east elevation facing No 63 Imperial Avenue at a 
separation of at least 16m from the boundary. The proposal also has 2 projecting 
balconies facing east at first floor level which would be at least 14m from the east 
boundary and a further single Juliette balcony at second floor level.  It is considered 
that the 14m separation to the boundary is sufficient to ensure that the proposal would 
have an acceptable impact on the amenities of this neighbour in all relevant regards.  
When assessing the amenity impacts on No 63 due regard should also be given to the 
relationship to No 63 of the existing building on the application site which has 2 
habitable room windows facing east at the upper levels towards No 63 and 2 external 
fire escapes.  

 
7.42 On balance, it is considered that, subject to the described conditions, the proposal, 

would have an acceptable impact on the amenities of occupiers of No 63 in all relevant 
respects and that, if concerns about this were identified, regard would need to be had 
to the prevailing amenity impacts of the existing building on the site which, in the round, 
are considered to be at least comparable with those resulting from the proposal. 

  
7.43 On the above basis it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable and 

would comply with national and local planning policies in relation to neighbour amenity. 
 

  Standard of Accommodation 
 
7.44 Delivering high quality homes is a key objective of the NPPF. Policy DM3 of the 

Development Management Document states that proposals should be resisted where 
they create a detrimental impact upon the living conditions and amenity of existing and 
future residents or neighbouring residents. 

 
  Space Standards and Quality of Habitable Rooms. 
 

7.45 All new homes are required to meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) 
in terms of floorspace, bedroom size and storage sizes. The required overall sizes for 
residential units and the minimum standards for bedrooms are shown on the following 
table.  

 

 
 

7.46 The relevant dimensions of the proposed scheme are also shown on the table below.  
 

Flat  Net Internal Area  Bed 1 Bed 2 Balcony  
1 
2b3p 
M4(3)  

74.2sqm  14.7sqm  
Width 3m 

9sqm  
Width 2.6m 

5.3 sqm 

2 74.2sqm 14.7sqm  9sqm  5.3 sqm 
25



2b3p 
M4(3)  

Width 3m Width 2.6m 

3 
2b3p 
M4(3)  

80.95sqm 16sqm 
Width 2.9m  

8.1sqm 
Width 2.8m  

5.3 sqm 

4  
1b2p 

53 sqm  12.1sqm  
Width 2.8m 

 5.3 sqm 

5 
1b2p 

52.8sqm 14.2sqm  
Width 2.75m 

 5.3sqm 

6  
1b2p 

52.8sqm 14.2sqm  
Width 2.75m 

 5.3sqm 

7 
1b2p 

53 sqm 14.5 sqm 
Width 2.75m 

 5.3sqm  

8  
2b3p 

80.1 sqm  16.3 sqm  
Width 3m 

11.1 sqm  
Width 2.9m  

5.3sqm 

9  
2b3p 

80.1 sqm  16.3 sqm  
Width 3m 

11.1 sqm  
Width 2.9m  

n/a 

10 
2b3p 

73.1sqm 14.6sqm 
Width 3.1m  

9.9sqm  
2.9m 

n/a 

11 
2b3p  

74.2sqm  13.3sqm  
Width 3m 

11.1sqm  
Width 2.7m 

4.3 sqm 

12 
2b3p  

74.2sqm 18.6sqm  
Width 3.6m 

11.1  
Width 2.8m 

4.3 sqm 

13 
2b3p 
 

80.95sqm 16.8sqm 
Width 3m  

11.2 sqm 
Width 2.8m  

n/a 

14 
2b3p 

72.3sqm 14.3sqm  
Width 3m 

10.1sqm  
Width 2.9m 

n/a 

15 
1b2p 

53 sqm  12.1sqm  
Width 2.8m 

 n/a 

16 
1b2p 

52.8sqm 14.2sqm  
Width 2.75m 

 4.3sqm 

17  
1b2p 

52.8sqm 14.2sqm  
Width 2.75m 

 4.3sqm 

18  
2b3p 

70.9sqm  16.1sqm 
Width 2.8m 

12.1sqm 
Width 2.8m  

4.3sqm  

19  
2b3p 

80.1 sqm  18.1sqm 
Width 3.3m 

9.9 sqm  
2.75m  

n/a 

20 
2b3p  

74.2sqm  13.3sqm  
Width 3m 

11.1sqm  
Width 2.7m 

n/a 

21 
1b2p 

57.5 sqm  15sqm 
Width 2.9m  

 n/a 

22 
1b2p 

61.8 sqm 17.8 sqm  
Width 2.9m 

 n/a 

23  
2b3p 

73sqm 
 

16.6sqm 
Width 3m 

9.8sqm  
Width 2.8m 

n/a 

24  
1b2p 

53 sqm  12.1sqm  
Width 2.8m 

 n/a 

25 
1b2p 

52.8sqm 14.2sqm  
Width 2.75m 

 4.3sqm 

26  
1b2p 

52.8sqm 14.2sqm  
Width 2.75m 

 4.3sqm 

27 
2b3p 

70.9sqm  16.1sqm 
Width 2.8m 

12.1sqm 
Width 2.8m  

4.3sqm  

Lounge 73 sqm     26



area  
Communal 
Garden  

Approx 110sqm 
including 38sqm to 
front  

   

 
 

7.47 The proposal therefore meets the required standards and is acceptable and policy 
compliant in regards to flat sizes. 

 
  Light, Privacy and Outlook 

 
7.48 In relation to light levels of the proposal the Daylight and Sunlight study concludes 

‘Internally to the scheme, 81% of primary habitable rooms will meet their ADF target 
values for daylight and 99% will meet for daylight distribution. 64% of living rooms will 
meet their APSH target values for sunlight. Overall, in our opinion, the scheme will  be  
well  daylit  and  sunlit.  Where  rooms  do  not  meet  the  target  values,  this  is 
predominantly due to overhanging balconies which obstructed and overshadow the  
window  directly  below.  There  is  inevitably  a  trade  off  between  providing  a source  
of  private  amenity,  which  is  highly  desired,  and  achieving  high  levels  of internal 
daylight/sunlight .’ This conclusion is considered to be reasonable and it is considered 
that the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard. 

 
  Noise and Disturbance  
 

7.49 The site is in close proximity of London Road and Chalkwell Avenue which are main 
traffic routes and near to the Aldi Store on London Road. An acoustic assessment has 
been submitted with the application to assess the impacts of these noise sources on 
the new development. The report concludes that ‘The design of the development is 
considered to be acceptable subject to the adoption of acoustically  upgraded  glazing  
and  MVHR  ventilation  for  apartments.’ This can be secured via condition. In terms 
of the amenity areas the report notes that the balconies and terraces on the western 
elevation fronting Chalkwell Avenue would exceed the recommended noise levels 
however it concludes that this would not make them unusable and the communal 
garden area to the rear of the property would meet the standards. It is therefore 
considered that, subject to a condition requiring the implementation of the 
recommended noise mitigations measures, the new dwellings’ living conditions would 
be acceptable in terms of noise and disturbance impacts. 

 
  M4(2) and M4(3) – Accessibility  
 

7.50 Policy DM8 also requires all new dwellings to be accessible and adaptable to Building 
Regulations M4(2) standards and 10% of the units (here 3 units) to be M4(3) 
wheelchair compatible units. This includes providing 3 disabled parking spaces and a 
lift to all flats. The plans show that units 1,2 and 3 are M4(3) compliant. The remainder 
are M4(2) compliant. This can be secured by condition. The proposal is therefore 
acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.   

 
Amenity Provision 
 

7.51 16 of  the proposed dwellings, those which face west and the lower levels of the east 
elevation and at ground floor, where they would not give rise to overlooking, have a 
private balcony or terrace. There is also a communal garden of 110sqm. This will 
provide adequate amenity space for all  residents. Noting also that the site is directly 
opposite Chalkwell Park, the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard. 

  
27



 
 

7.52 Overall, it is considered that the proposal will provide a satisfactory standard of 
accommodation for future occupiers and is acceptable and policy compliant in this 
regard. 

 
Traffic and Transportation Issues 

 
7.53 The NPPF states (para 111) that “Development should only be prevented or refused 

on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, 
the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.” 

 
7.54 Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM15 of the Development Management 

Document aim to improve road safety, quality of life and equality of access for all.  
 

7.55 The standard for retirement apartments set out in Appendix 6 of policy DM15 is a 
minimum of 1 parking space per unit and 1 cycle space per 8 flats. Policy DM15 of the 
Development Management Document states: “All development should meet the 
parking standards (including cycle parking) set out in appendix 6. Residential vehicle 
parking standards may be applied flexibly where it can be demonstrated that the 
development is proposed in a sustainable location with frequent and extensive links to 
public  transport  and/or  where  the  rigid  application  of  these  standards  would  
have  a  clear detrimental impact on local character and context. Reliance  upon  on-
street  parking  will  only  be  considered  appropriate  where  it  can  be demonstrated 
by the applicant that there is on-street parking capacity.’ 

 
7.56 The site is located close to the London Road bus routes, is opposite  Chalkwell Park, 

and within reasonable walking distance of the seafront, local shops and Chalkwell 
Station. 21 car parking spaces, including 3 spaces for disabled users, are proposed to 
the rear of the building. This is equivalent to 0.77 spaces per unit. All parking spaces 
will have access to an EV charging point. A scooter store for 6 mobility scooters is also 
provided within the building.    

 
7.57 A Transport Statement has been submitted with the application. This comments that 

the site is in a sustainable location close to frequent public transport links and that the 
provision on site has been informed by research at other McCarthy and Stone sites 
which have identified an average of 0.45 parking spaces per unit plus 0.1 spaces for 
visitor parking equivalent to 0.55 spaces. With 0.77 spaces per unit proposed the 
Transport Statement concludes  that there would be no overspill onto surrounding 
streets.  

 
7.58 It is considered that the proposed parking provision at the site would not result in a 

severe impact on the local road network. The Council’s Highways team has raised no 
objections to the proposal in terms of parking provision, highway safety or impact on 
the highway network. The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in terms of 
parking provision 

 
Cycle Storage  
 

7.59 Policy DM15 sets a standard of 1 cycle space per 8 retirement dwellings. That equates 
here to 4 cycle parking spaces. The submitted transport statement comments that 
spaces for 4 cycles for residents and visitors can be accommodated in the buggy store. 
This is acceptable and the proposal is policy compliant in this regard. 

 
 

 28



 Travel Packs 
 

7.60 A proposal of this scale is required to provide Travel Packs to new residents so that 
they are made aware of alternative travel options. A draft Travel Pack and Transport 
Information Pack have been submitted. Once these have been agreed through liaison 
with the Council’s Sustainable Travel Officer the provision of these documents can be 
secured within the S106 agreement. The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant 
in this regard.  

 
  Refuse and Recycling and Cycle Storage 
 

7.61 The Southend Waste Management Guidelines for 22-30 flats recommend 3 x 1100 
litre bins for recycling, 4 x 1100 litre bins for general waste plus card and food waste 
containers as required. The submitted plans show a refuse and recycling store within 
the building with provision for 3 x 1100 litre euro bins and 3 x 360 litre wheelie bins. 
This is below the recommended standards but the submitted Waste Management 
Strategy comments that the Council’s Guidelines are based on 3 person households 
which is above that proposed in the current development. It also notes that extra 
collections can be arranged by the building managers as required. Taking this into 
account it is considered that the proposed arrangements are acceptable and the 
proposal is policy compliant in this regard.   

 
  Construction Management Plan  
 

7.62 The site is constrained and close to neighbours and the scheme will involve significant 
demolition. It is therefore reasonable to require a construction management plan to be 
submitted and agreed prior to the commencement of the works. This can be required 
by condition.  

 
7.63 Overall, the proposal is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in terms of Traffic 

and Transportation subject to the  described conditions.  
 
  Sustainability 
 

7.64 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that: “at least 10% of the energy needs of 
new development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised 
renewable or low carbon energy sources)”. Policy DM2 of the Development 
Management Document states that: “to ensure the delivery of sustainable 
development, all development proposals should contribute to minimising energy 
demand and carbon dioxide emissions”. This includes energy efficient design and the 
use of water efficient fittings, appliances and water recycling systems such as grey 
water and rainwater harvesting.  

 
7.65 An Energy Statement has been submitted with the application. This states that the 

predicted energy use for the building is 139,114.63 kWh/yr of which 13,911.46 kWh/yr 
will be provided by PVs (equivalent to a 15.46 kWp system). A mechanical ventilation 
heat recovery system is also proposed to recycle waste heat back into the building. 
Water efficient fittings are proposed. These measures can be secured by condition. 
The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.  

  

29



 
 Sustainable Drainage 

 
7.66 All major schemes are required to demonstrate how they incorporate sustainable 

drainage systems (SUDS) to mitigate the increase in surface water runoff. A 
Sustainable Drainage Assessment and supplementary details have been submitted 
with the application. The Lead Local Flood Authority have reviewed these details and 
confirmed that they are broadly acceptable and that a full drainage scheme can be 
agreed by condition. The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard 

 
7.67 Subject to these conditions, the proposal is considered to be acceptable and policy 

compliant in regard to sustainable development and drainage.    
 

  Ecology  
 

7.68 Core Strategy Policy KP2 and Development Management Policy DM2 require 
development to respect, conserve and enhance biodiversity. Neighbours have 
reported seeing bats and badgers in the vicinity.  

 
7.69 An Ecology Report has been submitted with the application. In relation to bats the 

survey states: 
 

‘There was no evidence of bats recorded during the internal and external inspection of 
the buildings and only moderate roosting potential was identified in relation to the 
buildings where there are areas of tile hanging, gaps around dormer windows/roof, low 
numbers of slipped/damaged tiles and small areas of missing mortar. There was no 
evidence of bats recorded during the assessment of the trees and the majority are 
considered to have negligible potential for bats due to their immaturity and/or obvious 
absence of suitable roosting features.’   

 
7.70 The results of the 2020 and 2022 dusk emergence/pre-dawn re-entry surveys 

consistently indicate that very low numbers of common pipistrelle bats use parts of the 
tile hung aspects of the building in what are considered to be ‘day’ roost locations of 
low conservation significance. Bats were not recorded emerging from/re-entering the 
detached garage building during the surveys. Both dusk emergence and pre-dawn 
surveys have been undertaken at the site on 6 occasions and on each occasion only 
2 bats were seen emerging from the tile hanging which is considered to be low, 
although bat activity in the general area was much higher. Under Natural England 
guidelines the site is considered to be of low significance and the proposed works 
would cause low scale of impact. The applicant’s report confirms that best practice 
measures will be used in the demolition of the building under licence from Natural 
England. 6 bat boxes are proposed to be installed as part of the new development.  

 
7.71 The conclusions of this report in relation to bats are considered to be reasonable and 

the mitigation measures can be secured by condition.     
 

7.72 In relation to Badgers the report concludes that: 
 

‘Despite the neighbour representations, there has been no evidence recorded for the 
presence of badger from within the site during the 2020 and 2022 PEA survey visits. 
Therefore, the proposed works should not have a direct impact on a badger sett or on 
individual badgers.  However, it is possible that badgers may occasionally transit 
through the site and could therefore be at risk of indirect impacts associated with the 
construction phase of the proposed works. To avoid the  risk  of  this  occurring,  
precautionary  mitigation  measures  are  recommended  ’   

 30



7.73 The report includes a number of measures to protect badgers during construction. The 
Essex Badger Protection Group have not raised any objections to this document or its 
recommended mitigation measure which can be secured by condition.  

 
  Other Protected Species  

 
7.74 In relation to breeding birds the report notes ‘ Although no evidence for actively 

breeding birds was recorded during the survey, the site contains potentially suitable 
habitats (including the detached garage) for use by nesting birds during the breeding 
season, some of which will be disturbed/removed to facilitate the proposals.’ The report 
therefore recommends that ‘The disturbance/removal of potentially suitable breeding 
bird habitat should ideally be undertaken outside of the breeding bird season (avoiding 
March-July/August). If it is necessary to conduct this work during the breeding season, 
it should be carried out under the supervision of an experienced ecologist, who will 
check for the presence/absence of any birds’ nests.  If any active nests are found then 
works with the potential to impact on the nest must cease and an appropriate buffer 
zone should be established until the young have fledged and the nest is no longer in 
use.’ 

 
7.75 No reptiles were recorded during the surveys of the site.  
 
7.76 The conclusions and recommended ecological mitigation measures for the site are 

considered to be reasonable and can be secured by condition.  
 

  Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 
 

7.77 The site falls within the Zone of Influence for one or more European designated sites 
scoped into the emerging Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance Mitigation 
Strategy (RAMS). It is the Council’s duty as a competent authority to undertake a 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to secure any necessary mitigation and 
record this decision within the planning documentation. Any new residential 
development has the potential to cause disturbance to European designated sites and 
therefore the development must provide appropriate mitigation. This is necessary to 
meet the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 
The RAMS Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), was adopted by Full Council 
on 29th October 2020, requires that a tariff of £137.71 (index linked) is paid per 
dwelling unit. This will be transferred to the RAMS accountable body in accordance 
with the RAMS Partnership Agreement. This payment will be secured via the S106. 
The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this 
regard.  

 
7.78 Overall, subject to a condition requiring the mitigation measures set out in the ecology 

statement to be implemented and the RAMS contribution to be secured, the proposal 
is acceptable and policy compliant in terms of ecology in all relevant regards.  

 
  Land Contamination 

 
7.79 The Site Investigation report has found that there is a low risk from land contamination 

due to the site history. This is consistent with any information that the Council holds. 
The proposal is considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this regard. 

 
  

  

31



 Trees and Landscaping  
 

7.80 The site is quite overgrown including a number of small trees on the west, south and 
east boundary. All of the trees on the site are category C or U and are proposed to be 
removed but will be replaced by 20 new native trees throughout the site including a 
feature tree on the front boundary which will contribute to the tree cover in Chalkwell 
Avenue which has a noticeable gap in front of the application site. Boundary tree 
planting is proposed to the east and west sides of the site to provide enclosure to the 
street and screening to the neighbours. Year-round shrub planting and block paving is 
proposed throughout the site to provide an attractive setting for the building. The front 
boundary will be enclosed with a 1m brick wall to match others in the street.  

 
7.81 There is a mandatory requirement to achieve at least a 10% biodiversity net gain 

increase in the biodiversity value of the site. A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy has 
also been submitted with the application which recommends the inclusion of areas of 
wildflower grassland, including on the lower roof above the entrance, native tree and 
hedge planting and measures to promote wildlife at the site including 6 bat boxes, 6 
swift boxes and 2 invertebrate boxes. The report concludes that the loss of habitat (-
39.38%) at the site will be mitigated by the planting of new hedges (47.85%) resulting 
in a biodiversity net gain at the site. These recommendations can be secured by 
condition. The proposal is considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this 
regard. 

  
        Archaeology  
 
7.82 An Archaeological Desk Based Assessment has been submitted with the application. 

This concludes that the site has a low archaeological potential at the study site for all 
past periods of human activity and no further archaeological works are recommended. 
The Council’s Archaeology Officer agrees with this conclusion. The proposal is 
considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this regard. 

 
  Planning Obligations 
 

7.83 Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states that: “Planning obligations must only be sought 
where they meet all of the following tests:  

 
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
b) directly related to the development; and  
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.” 

 
7.84 Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states ‘Where up-to-date policies have set out the 

contributions expected from development, planning applications that comply with them 
should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether 
particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the application 
stage.’  

 
7.85 The National Planning Practice Guide makes it clear that ‘Planning obligations can 

provide flexibility in ensuring planning permission responds to site and scheme specific 
circumstances. Where planning obligations are negotiated on the grounds of viability 
it is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the 
need for viability assessment at the application stage. The weight to be given to a 
viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker.’ 

  

32



 
 

7.86 Core Strategy Police KP3 requires that: “In order to help the delivery of the Plan’s 
provisions the Borough Council will: 

 
2. Enter into planning obligations with developers to ensure the provision of 
infrastructure and transportation measures required as a consequence of the 
development proposed.  This includes provisions such as:  
 
a. roads, sewers, servicing facilities and car parking;  
b. improvements to cycling, walking and passenger transport facilities and services;  
c. off-site flood protection or mitigation measures, including sustainable drainage 
systems (SUDS);  
d. affordable housing;  
e. educational facilities;  
f. open space, ‘green grid’, recreational, sport or other community development and 
environmental enhancements, including the provision of public art where appropriate;  
g. any other works, measures or actions required as a consequence of the proposed 
development; and  
h. appropriate on-going maintenance requirements.” 

 
7.87 The following planning obligations have been agreed with the applicant: 
 

• A financial contribution of £212,519 in lieu of onsite provision of 
affordable housing (See paragraphs 7.14-7.19 above)  

• The provision of Travel Packs for residents and Travel Plan Monitoring 
(see paragraph 7.59above) 

• £3,718.17 (27 x £137.71) towards biodiversity mitigation, management, 
protection or education (RAMS) (see paragraph 7.76-7.77 above) 

• Standard S106 Monitoring Fee.  
 
  NHS Contribution  
 

7.88 The NHS requested a financial contribution of £12,700 towards the delivery of GP 
services in the area. This figure, provided by the NHS is based on their identification 
of an existing deficit of GP services in the area and their predicted population increase 
of approximately 62 new residents as a result of the development. This figure is based 
on the average census household size of 2.3 people per dwelling, the requirement for 
120sqm of surgery floorspace for every 1750 patients and the average cost of new 
build extensions to health centres.  

 
7.89 The agent has responded to this, setting out a range of factors for why they do not 

consider the contribution request to be justified including in terms of Regulation . In 
any event and as confirmed by the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document 2: 
Planning Obligations  confirms that funding for potential primary healthcare care is 
addressed through the Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy, which will be secured 
here in any event, rather than planning obligations.   

 
7.90 The contributions noted in paragraph 7.89 above are considered to meet the tests set 

out in the CIL Regulations 2010. Without these contributions the development could 
not be considered acceptable. A draft S106 agreement is currently being prepared but 
at the time of report preparation has not been formally agreed or completed. The 
recommendation of this report seeks this committee’s approval subject to the 
completion of this agreement.  

 
 33



Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
 

7.91 This application is CIL liable and there will be a CIL charge payable. In accordance 
with Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 
143 of the Localism Act 2011) and Section 155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, 
CIL is being reported as a material ‘local finance consideration’ for the purpose of 
planning decisions. The proposed development includes a gross internal area of  
2,639.25 sqm, which may equate to a CIL charge of approximately £72,071.83 (subject 
to confirmation).  Any existing floor area that is being retained/demolished that satisfies 
the ‘in-use building’ test, as set out in the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended), may be 
deducted from the chargeable area thus resulting in a reduction in the chargeable 
amount. 

 
 Equality and Diversity Issues 

 
7.92 The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in 

the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and 
preparing this report had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 
(as amended). They have concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict 
with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation. 

 
  Planning Balance and Housing Supply  
 

7.93 The results of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) published by the Government show 
that there is underperformance of housing delivery in the City. Similarly, the Council’s 
Five-Year Housing Land Supply (5YHLS) figure shows that there is a deficit in housing 
land supply in the City. The South Essex Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SESHMA) identifies that Southend has a higher proportion of flats/maisonettes and a 
housing stock comprised of a greater proportion of one-bed units and smaller 
properties a consequence of which is that there is a lower percentage of 
accommodation of a suitable size for families. For the proposed provision of housing 
the HDT and 5YHLS weigh in favour of the principle of this type of development. This 
proposal would provide 27 new dwellings for which there is an identified need. In these 
circumstances, the provision of additional housing is a consideration which should be 
given increased weight in a balancing exercise.  

 
  Conclusion 

 
7.94 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that subject 

to compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed development would be 
acceptable and compliant with the objectives of the relevant development plan policies 
and guidance. The principle of the redevelopment and use is acceptable. The 
proposed design, and scale of the development would, on balance, have an acceptable 
impact on the site and wider streetscene. Subject to conditions the proposal would, on 
balance, have an acceptable impact on the amenities of neighbours. The proposal 
would provide an acceptable standard of accommodation for new occupiers. There 
would be no significant harmful traffic, parking or highways impacts caused by the 
proposed development. The proposal would also have an acceptable impact on 
sustainability and ecology.  

  

34



 
 

7.95 The proposal has been found by officers to be acceptable in all relevant regards and 
is recommended for approval on its individual merits subject to the completion of a 
S106 and conditions. Should Members identify harm then firstly it will be appropriate 
to consider, and weigh in the balance as appropriate, the relationship impacts resulting 
from the existing built form on the site. Secondly, any identified harm will also need to 
be balanced against the public benefits of the proposal. This proposal creates new 
housing, therefore, when assessing the harm identified, it is necessary to demonstrate 
that, in reaching this decision, an appropriate balancing exercise has been undertaken 
considering the benefits of the proposal and any harm. The Council has a deficit in 
housing land supply so the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development should 
be applied when determining the application as relevant. The test set out by the 
National Planning Policy Framework is whether any adverse impacts of granting 
permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when 
considered against the policies of the Framework taken as a whole. 

 
8   Recommendation 

 
(a) That the Council enter into a Planning Obligation by Deed of Agreement under 

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to 
secure the following:  

• A financial contribution of £212,519 in lieu of onsite provision of 
affordable housing. 

• The provision of Travel Packs for residents and Travel Plan Monitoring.  
• £3,718.17 (27 x £137.71) index linked, towards biodiversity mitigation, 

management, protection or education (RAMS).  
• Standard S106 Monitoring Fee.  

 
(b) That the Executive Director (Growth and Housing), Director of Planning 

or Service Manager - Development Control be DELEGATED to GRANT 
PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the completion of the section 106 
agreement referred to above and subject to the conditions set out below: 

 
01  The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years from the 

date of this decision. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990  

 
02  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans LSE-2721-03-AC-100  A (Location Plan, LSE-2721-03-
AC-102 F (Site Plan and Streetscene), LSE-2721-03-AC-103 G (Proposed Ground 
and First Floor Plans), LSE-2721-03-AC-104 H (Proposed Second Floor and Roof 
plans), LSE-2721-03-AC-107 J (Proposed Elevations),  LSE-2721-03-AC-111 A ( 
Existing Site Plan), PP/409/WESTCLIFF/F1 (Existing Plans and Elevations), 
MCSWESTC-01_00A (Proposed Balcony Details). 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
Development Plan. 

  

35



 
 
03  Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans  and materials schedule 

submitted and otherwise hereby approved, no construction works other than 
demolition and construction up to ground floor slab level shall take place unless 
and until full product specifications of the materials to be used on all the external 
elevations of the development, including walls including string course and 
decorative render, roof including chimneys, ridge and flat roof areas, balconies 
including balustrade, floor, underside, gable decoration, eaves, fascia and soffit, 
windows and doors including sills, dormers and rooflights, entrance porches, 
fascia and soffits and rainwater goods, driveway, paving and boundaries both 
walling and fencing have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details before it is brought into first use. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area, in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) Core Strategy (2007) policy KP2 and 
CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM5 and 
advice contained within the National Design Guide (Rev 2021) and the Southend-
on- Sea  Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
04  Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 

approved, no construction works other than demolition above slab level shall take 
place unless and until full detailed design drawings and cross sections of the 
feature gables and porches including eaves and decoration and supports,  
window reveals and lintel details, roof edge detail for the 2 storey flat roof section 
and flat roof area to the main roof and at a scale of 1:20 or 1:10 as appropriate 
have first been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
before it is brought into use. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area, in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) Core Strategy (2007) policy KP2 and 
CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM5 and 
advice contained within the National Design Guide (Rev 2021) and the Southend-
on- Sea  Design and Townscape Guide (2009).  

 
05  The flat roof area of the two storey section of the development above the main 

entrance on the north side of the building  hereby approved as shown on drawing 
No LSE-2712-3-AC-104-H shall not be used as a balcony, roof garden or similar 
amenity area or for any other purpose unless express planning permission has 
previously been obtained. The roof can however be used for the purposes of 
maintenance or to escape in an emergency. 

 
Reason: To protect the privacy and environment of people in neighbouring 
residential properties, in accordance with Core Strategy (2007) policies KP2 and 
CP4, the Development Management Document (2015)  policies DM1 and DM3 and 
advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide 
(2009)  

  

36



 
 
06  Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 

approved, no construction works other than construction up to ground floor slab 
level shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape works to be 
carried out at the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved landscaping works shall be carried out prior to 
first occupation of the development. The details submitted shall include, but not 
be limited to:  

 
i. Existing and proposed finished site levels or contours. 
ii. Details of means of enclosure, of the site including any gates or boundary 

walls and fencing. 
iii. Hard surfacing materials for forecourt and parking area. 
iv. Full details of the number, size and location of the trees, shrubs and plants to 

be retained and planted together with a planting specification and tree 
management plan. This shall include an extra heavy standard tree to the front 
of the site as shown on plan reference MCS23711 09C (Landscape Strategy). 

 
The development shall also be carried out in full accordance with the tree 
protection measures shown on plan reference 1496-KC-XX-YTREE-TPP01RevA. 
Implementation of the development shall be undertaken only in full accordance 
with British Standard 3998 and British Standard 5837. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and the amenities of 
occupiers and to ensure a satisfactory standard of landscaping pursuant to Policy 
DM1 of the Development Management Document (2015) and Policy CP4 of the 
Core Strategy (2007) 

 
07  The 21 car parking spaces, including 3 disabled spaces, and the associated 

amended vehicular accesses for the spaces to access the public highway at the 
site as shown on approved plan LSE-2721-03-AC-102 F shall be provided and 
made available for use prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby 
approved. The car parking spaces and the associated vehicular access to and 
from the public highway shall thereafter be permanently retained solely for the 
parking of vehicles and the accessing of the car parking spaces in connection 
with the occupiers of the dwellings hereby approved and their visitors. Each 
parking space shall have access to an electric vehicle charging point. 

 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory off-street car parking is provided in the 
interests of residential amenity and highways efficiency and safety, in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) policy 
KP2, Development Management Document (2015) policy DM15 the Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for new development Supplementary Planning 
Document (2021) and advice in the Southend-on-Sea  Design and Townscape 
Guide (2009). 

 
08  The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until space for at least 

4 secure, covered cycle parking spaces to serve the residential development and 
its visitors have been provided within the buggy store shown on drawing LSE-
2721-03-AC-103 G  , or in such other on site location alternatively agreed under 
the scope of this planning condition, and have been made available for use in full 
accordance with the approved plans by occupiers of the development hereby 
approved and their visitors. The approved scheme shall be permanently retained 
for the lifetime of the development. 

 37



Reason: To ensure that adequate cycle parking is provided and retained to serve 
the development in accordance with Policies CP3 of the Core Strategy (2007) and 
Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document (2015). 

 
09  The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until the 

refuse store to serve the development as shown on drawing LSE-2721-03-AC-103 
G has been provided at the site in full accordance with the approved plans and 
the  Waste Management Strategy reference LSE-2721-030AC-WMP rev A and 
made available for use by occupiers of the residential units hereby approved. The 
approved scheme shall be permanently retained for the storage of waste and 
recycling for the lifetime of the development.  

 
Reason: To ensure that adequate refuse and recycling storage is provided and 
retained to serve the development in accordance with Policies KP2 and CP4 of 
the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM8 and DM15 of the Development 
Management Document (2015). 

 
10  The renewable energy proposals for the development hereby approved shall be 

carried out in full accordance with the recommendations set out in section 4 of 
the Energy Statement by Focus dated May 2022 including the installation of 
15.46kWp of PV cells or any other details that have been previously submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the terms of this 
condition. These renewables shall be implemented at the site prior to the first 
occupation of the development and retained in perpetuity thereafter. 

 
Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through 
efficient use of resources and better use of sustainable and renewable resources 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy 
(2007) policy KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) policy 
DM2 and advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
11  Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, appropriate water 

efficient design measures as set out in Policy DM2 (iv) of the Development 
Management Document to limit internal water consumption to 105 litres per 
person per day (lpd) (110 lpd when including external water consumption), to 
include measures of water efficient fittings, appliances and water recycling 
systems such as grey water and rainwater harvesting shall be implemented for 
the whole development and retained in perpetuity. 

 
Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through 
efficient use of water in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021), Core Strategy (2007) Policy KP2, Development Management Document 
(2015) Policy DM2 and advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape 
Guide (2009). 

 
12  Before any of the residential units hereby approved are first occupied or brought 

into use, the development hereby approved shall be carried out in a manner to 
ensure that 3 of the flats hereby approved comply with building regulation M4 (3) 
‘wheelchair user dwellings’ standard and the remaining 24 flats comply with 
building regulation M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings standard  

 
Reason: To ensure the residential units hereby approved provide high quality and 
flexible internal layouts to meet the changing needs of residents in accordance 
with National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy (2007) Policy KP2, 
Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM2 and advice in the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 38



 
 
13  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in full accordance with the 

noise mitigation measures set out in paragraphs 4.43, 4.44 and 5.4 of  the Acoustic 
Assessment by Cass Allen reference RP01-22212-R1 rev 1 dated 20.05.22 to 
ensure that the internal noise levels in habitable rooms within the approved flats 
are in accordance with the ProPG guidance and BS4142. These mitigation 
measures  shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the development and 
shall be retained for the lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason: To ensure the resulting noise from the traffic on the main roads and the 
service yard of Aldi on London Road to the north of the site would not be 
detrimental to living conditions of neighbouring and future occupiers in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and 
CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development 
Management Document (2015). 

 
14  Notwithstanding the details submitted within the Drainage Strategy Report by 

iDLtd reference IDL/1050/DS/001 dated March 2022 and Drainage Strategy Layout 
LSE-2721-03-DE-100 D and as shown on the plans otherwise submitted and 
otherwise hereby approved, no drainage works shall be constructed at the site 
until and unless a detailed design of a surface water drainage for the site, 
including the additional details specified below, has been be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Lead 
Local Flood Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented at the site 
prior to the first occupation of the development. The scheme shall address the 
following matters: 

 
i. A construction method statement must be provided outlining how surface 

water will be managed at the site including during the construction phase. 
Details on the phasing of drainage installation relative to wider works shall also 
be provided. 

ii. An agreement in principle for Anglian Water for surface water discharge 
including: 

a. Development hectare size 
b. Proposed discharge rate (The minimum discharge rate is 2l/s. The 

applicant can verify the site’s existing 1 in 1 year greenfield run off rate 
on the following HR Wallingford website 
http://www.uksuds.com/drainage-calculation-tools/greenfield-runoff-
rate-estimation . For Brownfield sites being demolished, the site should 
be treated as Greenfield. Where this is not practical Anglian Water would 
assess the roof area of the former development site and subject to 
capacity, permit the 1 in 1 year calculated rate)  

c. Connecting manhole discharge location 
d. Sufficient evidence to prove that all surface water disposal routes have 

been explored as detailed in the surface water hierarchy, stipulated in 
Building Regulations Part H (Anglian Water Surface Water Policy can be 
found on their website). 

iii. Updated drainage modelling calculation outputs  to be provided with the 
following parameters amended. Please note these are for review only given the 
system has been designed to a 1:100 year storm standard: 

a. Cv values set to 1.0 for all storm simulations 
b. Maximum rainfall amount set to the maximum allowed by the software or 

500 mm/hr, whichever is lowest. 
 
 39



c. The Additional Storage factor should be set to 0 unless conclusive 
evidence is provided to justify why this has been modelled using 20 
m3/ha 

  
The drainage strategy and SuDS design statement must be implemented in full 
accordance with the details approved under this condition before the 
development hereby approved is first occupied or brought into first use.  

 
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal 
of surface water from the site for the lifetime of the development and to prevent 
environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding in accordance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policy KP2 and CP4 of the Core 
Strategy (2007) and Policy DM2 of the Development Management Document  
(2015). 

 
15  No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until and 

unless a Construction/Demolition Method Statement and Management Plan has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
Statement shall provide for:  

 
i.  the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors   
ii.  loading and unloading of plant and materials   
iii.  storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development   
iv.  the erection and maintenance of security hoarding  
v.  a Noise and Dust Management Plan - measures to control the emission of noise 
and dust and dirt during demolition and construction. This should make reference 
to current guidance on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and Construction 
- Institute of Air Quality Management or an acceptable equivalent. 
vi.  a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works. No waste materials should be burnt on the site, instead being 
removed by licensed waste contractors;   
vii. measures to mitigate noise disturbance during the development. 

 
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required to minimise the 
environmental impact and disturbance to existing residents, during construction 
of the development in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021), Core Strategy (2007) policies KP2 and CP4 and Development Management 
Document (2015) policies DM1 and DM3. 

 
16   Construction Hours for the development hereby approved shall be restricted to 

8am – 6pm Monday to Friday, 8am - 1pm Saturday and not at all on Sundays or 
Bank Holidays. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbours pursuant to Policy CP4 of 
the Core Strategy (2007) and Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Document (2015). 

 
17  The proposed site clearance and construction works shall be carried out in full 

accordance with the recommendations set out in Section 5.2 of the Ecological 
Impact Assessment by Greenlink Ecology Ltd dated 16.09.22  and Section 5 and 
Appendix 1 (Mitigation and Enhancement Plan) showing proposed habitat 
measures of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy by ACD reference 
MSC23711_BES Rev A dated 08.12.22 or any other details that have been 
previously submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
under the terms of this condition.  40



 
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and to ensure any protected species and 
habitats utilising the site are adequately protected during building works in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Core Strategy 
(2007) policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) policies 
DM1, DM2 and DM3.  
 

18 The finished levels at the site shall be as set out on plan reference LSE-2721-03-
DE-103 Rev A before the dwellings are occupied. 

 
Reason:  To safeguard the visual amenities of the site and wider area as set out 
in Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management 
Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and the advice contained within the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 
 

19 Each of the units hereby permitted shall be only occupied by: 
  

i. persons aged 60 years or older; or  
ii. persons living as part of a single household in the development with such 

a person or persons aged 55 years or older; or 
iii. persons who were living as part of a single household in the development 

with such a person or persons who have since died. 

Reason:   To define the scope of this permission with respect to parking provision, 
amenity space, general living conditions, the provision of affordable housing and 
infrastructure required to support the development together with impact on 
education infrastructure within the CIty, in accordance with Core Strategy (2007) 
Policies KP2, KP3, CP4, CP6 and CP8 and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the 
Development Management Document (2015). 
 
C) In the event that the planning obligation referred to in part (a) above has not 
been completed before 11th February  2023 or an extension of this time as may 
be agreed by the Director of Planning or Service Manager - Development Control, 
authority is delegated to the Director of Planning or Service Manager - 
Development Control to refuse planning permission for the application on 
grounds that the development will not secure the necessary contributions for 
affordable housing, biodiversity mitigation or Travel Plan and Travel Information 
Packs and that, as such, the proposal would be unacceptable and contrary to 
Policies KP2, KP3, CP3, CP6 and CP8 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies 
DM1, DM3, DM7 and DM15 of the Development Management Document (2015). 
 
Positive and Proactive Statement: 
 
The Local Planning Authority  has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as 
originally submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments 
to the proposal to address those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning 
Authority  has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, 
in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set 
out within the National Planning Policy Framework.  The detailed analysis is set 
out in a report on the application prepared by officers. 
 

  

41



Informatives: 
 

1 Please note that the development the subject of this application is liable for a 
charge under the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) and it is the responsibility of the landowner(s) to ensure they have fully 
complied with the requirements of these regulations. A failure to comply with the 
CIL regulations in full can result in a range of penalties. For full planning 
permissions, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued by the Council as soon as 
practicable following this decision notice. For general consents, you are required 
to submit a Notice of Chargeable Development (Form 5) before commencement; 
and upon receipt of this, the Council will issue a CIL Liability Notice including 
details of the chargeable amount and when this is payable. If you have not 
received a CIL Liability Notice by the time you intend to commence development 
it is imperative that you contact S106andCILAdministration@southend.gov.uk to 
avoid financial penalties for potential failure to comply with the CIL Regulations 
2010 (as amended). If the chargeable development has already commenced, no 
exemption or relief can be sought in relation to the charge and a CIL Demand 
Notice will be issued requiring immediate payment. Further details on CIL matters 
can be found on the Planning Portal 
(www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_inf
rastructure_levy) or the Council's website (www.southend.gov.uk/cil).    
 

2 You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction 
works to the highway in implementing this permission that Council will seek to 
recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party 
responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when 
implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please 
take care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths 
in the City. 
 

3 This permission is governed by a legal agreement between the applicant and the 
City Council under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.The 
agreement relates to the provision of a financial contribution in relation to 
affordable housing, a financial RAMS contribution, the provision of Travel Plan 
and Travel Information Packs and monitoring of the agreement.  

 
4 Cadent Gas Ltd own and operate the gas infrastructure within the area of your 

development. There may be a legal interest (easements and other rights) in the 
land that restrict activity in proximity to Cadent assets in private land. The 
applicant must ensure that the proposed works do not infringe on legal rights of 
access and or restrictive covenants that exist. If buildings or structures are 
proposed directly above the apparatus the development may only take place 
following diversion of the apparatus. The applicant should apply online to have 
apparatus diverted in advance of any works, by visiting 
cadentgas.com/diversions. Prior to carrying out works, including the 
construction of access points, please register on 
www.linesearchbeforeudig.co.uk to submit details of the planned works for 
review, ensuring requirements are adhered to. 

 
5 Prior to demolition of the existing buildings an appropriate Asbestos survey of 

the buildings should be undertaken and a scheme implemented to remove and 
safely dispose of any asbestos-containing materials in accordance with the 
Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 and the applicant's/developer's Waste duty 
of care.  It is recommended that the Council's Building Control Department is 
notified of the demolition in order that requirements can be made under section 
81 of the Building Act 1984. 42

mailto:S106andCILAdministration@southend.gov.uk
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy
http://www.southend.gov.uk/cil


 
6 Should any contaminated ground conditions or the existence, extent and 

concentrations of any landfill gas be found that was not previously identified or 
not considered in a scheme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, 
the site or part thereof shall be re-assessed a scheme to bring the site to a suitable 
condition in that it represents an acceptable risk shall be submitted to and agreed 
in writing with the local planning authority. Please note that it is the applicant s 
responsibility to ensure a safe site in terms of land contamination and that the 
site cannot be determined as contaminated land in the future as defined by Part2A 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



C
H

ALKW
ELL AVEN

U
E

BUS
STOP

C 
 H

  A
  L

  K
  W

  E
  L

  L
   

 A
  V

  E
  N

  U
  E

18

LOUNGE

GUEST

RECEPTION

BINS

SC
O

O
TE

RS
/C

YC
LE

S

E

E

E
Line of wheelstops to
 protect boundary

E

ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE, WORK TO FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.
REPORT DISCREPANCIES TO THE ARCHITECT AT ONCE BEFORE PROCEEDING

1:200 @ A1
RW

01.03.2022
RWD

RETIREMENT LIVING

CHALKWELL AVENUE
WESTCLIFF

SITE PLAN - DETAILS

© McCarthy & Stone Retirement Lifestyles Limited
All rights reserved.  The reproduction of all or any part of this

drawing/document and/or construction of any building or part of a building
or structure to which this drawing/document relates without the written

permission of the copyright owner is prohibited.

ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE, WORK TO FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.
REPORT DISCREPANCIES TO THE ARCHITECT AT ONCE BEFORE PROCEEDING

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

LSE-2721-3-AC-102     G

NOTES

- All materials subject to technical design
detail / confirmation - images show intent

NON-VISIBLE ELEMENTS

- Flat roof areas - Alkorplan light grey or
similar. Green roof build-up details on
Second Floor to be confirmed at Technical
Design

- Bin and Buggy Store doors - black painted
/ stained timber to match gables, porch
etc

- Vents - any vents to match immediately
adjacent building materials / colours to
minimise visibility

- Juliet balcony railings - to match balcony
railings in design, style and colour

11/03/22A First Stage 3 Issue RAW

01/04/22B Path from West Stair added RAW

08/04/22C
Turning head for fire appliance added & parking
bays 1 to 3 rotated, paths updated RAW

11/04/22D
Table completed, boundary treatment added, EV
points added, parking area to bays 1-3 extended RAW

17/05/22E

08/07/22F
Updated following Planning Officer comments.
Street scene added TL
Landscape outline, wheelstops to bays 1-3, 6-19
added, EVC points revised, table removed RAW

Existing tree retained

Heavy line indicates extent of survey

Existing buildings to be removed

E

Close-boarded fencing 1.8m high

Brick wall with piers

Electric vehicle charging point

For materials, refer to Landscaping Plan MCS23711 09

Line of wheelstops to
 protect boundary

0m 84
SCALE - 1:200

202 6 10

CHALKWELL AVENUE ELEVATION - 1:200

Existing building outline

20/01/23G Street boundary changed to brick wall with piers TL

45

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
Drawing Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
Checked

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
Rev.

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
Drawing No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
Scale   

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Project Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
Division

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
Project Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Stage

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
Discipline

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
Revision

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
Rev

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Comment

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
Initial



T
his page is intentionally left blank



BUS
STOP

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

Feature tree - Carpinus
betulus 'Fastigiata',
specified as extra heavy
standard specimen

Selected standard
trees, e.g. Sorbus
aucuparia

Pleached trees to be trained in
150cm wide x100cm high
frame, clear stem 200cm
Photinia x fraseri 'Red Robin',
selected standard specimen

Root cell system
Approx. area 20m2, 1m depth
Root barrier along boundary fence

Aluminium/steel edging to road transition

Legend
Existing trees to be retained and protected
during construction. See Tree Protection Plan
for details

Proposed specimen shrub planting

Proposed shrub planting

Proposed grass areas

Proposed hedge planting to be planted in a
single row

Proposed tree planting within soft landscape

Proposed hedge planting to be planted in a
double staggered row. To be maintained at 1m
height

Proposed multi stem tree within soft
landscape

Proposed Self-binding Gravel

Proposed paving to paths

Proposed paving slabs to outdoor communal
areas

Proposed loose gravel areas

Proposed location of 200x250cm timber
potting shed

Proposed location of 3no. timber sleeper
planters

Proposed bench

Proposed location of 2no timber pergola

Existing fence to be retained and
repaired/replaced with closeboard fence, if
required

Proposed paving slabs

Proposed permeable block paving for
parking spaces

Areas to be laid with bitmac

Proposed wildflower areas

Proposed herbaceous border

Proposed bulb planting border

Proposed 1m high brick wall to match building,
with piers

Proposed specimen grass in gravel area

Proposed wildflower roof system

Proposed location of root cell system for
screening trees, north boundary

Viburnum tinus 'Eve Price'
Viburnum davidii
Skimmia japonica 'Rubella'
Sarcococca hookeriana 'humilis'
Salvia officinalis
Rosmarinus off. 'Sissinghurst Blue'
Phormium 'Yellow Wave'
Magnolia 'Leonard Messel'
Laurus nobilis
Lavandula angustifolia 'Hidcote'
Hypericum 'Hidcote'
Hebe rakaiensis
Hebe 'Silver Queen'
Hebe 'White Gem'
Escallonia 'Apple Blossom'
Cistus x corbariensis
Choisya 'Aztec Pearl'

Ceanothus 'Blue Mound'
Abelia grandiflora
Species Name
Shrubs

Sorbus aucuparia
Malus domestica
Prunus Avium 'Plena'
Betula pendula
Species Name
Trees

Indicative Planting Schedule

Species Name
Bulb planting

Bergenia 'Bressingham White'
Achillea 'Cloth of Gold'
Species Name
Herbaceous

Heuchera 'Purple Palace'
Pennisetum 'Hameln Gold'
Stipa tenuissima

Amelanchier lamarkii 'Robin Hill'

Cotinus coggygria 'Royal Purple'

Galanthus nivalis

Pyrus communis

Species Name
Hedging

Escallonia 'Apple Blossom'

Allium beesianum
Narcissus 'Tete a Tete'

Carpinus betulus
Photinia x fraseri 'Red Robin'

205sp
19

201
20

104
21

105
22

204
23

104
24

103
25

103
26

201R
27

roof access

Second floor L2

Date Details Drawn

Mar 2022

JS

Chalkwell Avenue
Westcliff-on Sea

Landscape Strategy

1:200@A1
MCS23711 09C
AC

Rev

McCarthy and Stone

A
C
D

drawn: checked:

drawing no:

scale:

drawing:
date:

scheme:

Copyright of ACD Environmental Ltd. All rights described in
Chapter IV of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988
have been generally asserted: 2011. Copyright of this plan

remains with ACD until all fees have been paid in full.

client:

HEAD OFFICE
Rodbourne Rail Business Centre, Grange Lane,

Malmesbury, SN16 0ES
Tel: 01666 825646

4 & 5 The Old Mill, Fry's Yard, Bridge Street,
Godalming, GU7 1HP

Tel: 01483 425714

Suite 6, Crescent House, Yonge Close,
Eastleigh, SO50 9SX
Tel: 02382 026300

email: mail@acdenv.co.uk
www.acdenvironmental.co.uk

Indicative planting
Magnolia 'Leonard Messel' Lavandula angustifolia 'Hidcote' Stipa tenuissima Skimmia japonica 'Rubella'

Viburnum davidii

Second Floor Plan

Ground Plan

24.10.22 Landscape amendment (LPA comments) & roof update ACA
07.11.22 Landscape amendment (LPA comments) ACB
08.12.22 Inclusion screeening trees, north boundary ACC

47

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
ENVIRONMENTAL 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



W/DRYER

U
til

ity
C

up
bo

ar
d

B
ed

ro
om

Fu
rn

itu
re

sh
ow

n
in

di
ca

tiv
el

y.

Li
vi

ng
 &

D
in

in
g 

A
re

as

201W
01

201W
02

205W
03

104
04

103*
05

103*
06

103R
07

205R
08

Bins

Scooters Guest
?

Lounge

Reception

WC
?

W/DRYER

U
til

ity
C

up
bo

ar
d

B
ed

ro
om

Fu
rn

itu
re

sh
ow

n
in

di
ca

tiv
el

y.

Li
vi

ng
 &

D
in

in
g 

A
re

as

205R
09

204
10

201
11

201
12

205R
13

204
14

104
15

103
16

103
17

201R
18

Services
?

W/DRYER

U
til

ity
C

up
bo

ar
d

B
ed

ro
om

Fu
rn

itu
re

sh
ow

n
in

di
ca

tiv
el

y.

Li
vi

ng
 &

D
in

in
g 

A
re

as

W/DRYER

U
til

ity
C

up
bo

ar
d

B
ed

ro
om

Fu
rn

itu
re

sh
ow

n
in

di
ca

tiv
el

y.

Li
vi

ng
 &

D
in

in
g 

A
re

as

ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE, WORK TO FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.
REPORT DISCREPANCIES TO THE ARCHITECT AT ONCE BEFORE PROCEEDING

1:100 @ A1
RAW

As revision note
RWD

RETIREMENT LIVING

CHALKWELL AVENUE
WESTCLIFF

GROUND & FIRST FLOOR PLANS
L1 & L2

© McCarthy & Stone Retirement Lifestyles Limited
All rights reserved.  The reproduction of all or any part of this

drawing/document and/or construction of any building or part of a building
or structure to which this drawing/document relates without the written

permission of the copyright owner is prohibited.

ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE, WORK TO FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.
REPORT DISCREPANCIES TO THE ARCHITECT AT ONCE BEFORE PROCEEDING

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
0m 42
SCALE - 1:100

101 3 5

LSE-2721-3-AC-103     G

GROUND FLOOR L1

24/02/22A First Stage 3 WIP Issue RAW

11/04/22B 205W unit type moved to plot 3 RAW

21/04/22C
Some windows increased in size to improve
daylight / sunlight RAW

27/04/22D
Site plan outlined added to Ground Floor. Stairs
reconfigured RAW

14/09/22E Amends following planning officer comments TL

FIRST FLOOR L2

NOTES

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Staff / services

29/09/22F Bin store and Plot 7 windows updated TL

19/10/22G
Gable windows amended on west elevation,
feature piers added to north elevation TL

49

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Drawing Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Checked

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
Rev.

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Drawing No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Scale   

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
Project Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Division

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Project Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Stage

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Discipline

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Revision

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Rev

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Comment

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
Initial



T
his page is intentionally left blank



205sp
19

201
20

104
21

105
22

204
23

104
24

201R
27

roof access
?

Services
?

103
16

103
17

W/DRYER

U
til

ity
C

up
bo

ar
d

B
ed

ro
om

Fu
rn

itu
re

sh
ow

n
in

di
ca

tiv
el

y.

Li
vi

ng
 &

D
in

in
g 

A
re

as

W/DRYER

U
til

ity
C

up
bo

ar
d

B
ed

ro
om

Fu
rn

itu
re

sh
ow

n
in

di
ca

tiv
el

y.

Li
vi

ng
 &

D
in

in
g 

A
re

as

42
°

42
°

42
°

42
°

Roof pitch = 40 degrees unless shown otherwise

Flat roof laid to falls

Flat roof laid to falls

32°

42
°

42
°

32°

Flat roof laid to falls

Roof access from
2nd floor

42
°

42
°

POSSIBLE AREA FOR
PV PANELS

POSSIBLE AREA FOR
PV PANELS

POSSIBLE AREA FOR
PV PANELS

POSSIBLE AREA FOR
PV PANELS

POSSIBLE AREA FOR
PV PANELS

30°

False dormer

ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE, WORK TO FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.
REPORT DISCREPANCIES TO THE ARCHITECT AT ONCE BEFORE PROCEEDING

1:100 @ A1
RAW

As revision note
RWD

RETIREMENT LIVING

CHALKWELL AVENUE
WESTCLIFF

SECOND FLOOR AND ROOF PLANS

© McCarthy & Stone Retirement Lifestyles Limited
All rights reserved.  The reproduction of all or any part of this

drawing/document and/or construction of any building or part of a building
or structure to which this drawing/document relates without the written

permission of the copyright owner is prohibited.

ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE, WORK TO FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.
REPORT DISCREPANCIES TO THE ARCHITECT AT ONCE BEFORE PROCEEDING

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
0m 42
SCALE - 1:100

101 3 5

NOTES

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Staff / services

LSE-2721-3-AC-104     H

SECOND FLOOR L2

24/02/22A First Stage 3 WIP Issue RAW

11/04/22B
Roof accesses and parapet wall to Green Roof
added RAW

21/04/22C
Some windows increased in size to improve
daylight / sunlight RAW

27/04/22D
Stairs reconfigured, false dormer added to west
side. Possible PV locations noted RAW

14/09/22E Amends following planning officer comments TL

ROOF PLAN

29/09/22F Plot 20 balcony changed to Juliet and railings TL

19/10/22G
Gable windows amended on west elevation,
feature piers added to north elevation TL

17/11/22H Chimneys added TL

51

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
Drawing Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
Checked

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
Rev.

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
Drawing No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
Scale   

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
Project Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
Division

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
Project Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Stage

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Discipline

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
Revision

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
Rev

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
Comment

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
Initial



T
his page is intentionally left blank



53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE, WORK TO FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.
REPORT DISCREPANCIES TO THE ARCHITECT AT ONCE BEFORE PROCEEDING

1:100 @ A1
TL

05.09.2022
TL

RETIREMENT LIVING

CHALKWELL AVENUE
WESTCLIFF

ELEVATIONS

© McCarthy & Stone Retirement Lifestyles Limited
All rights reserved.  The reproduction of all or any part of this

drawing/document and/or construction of any building or part of a building
or structure to which this drawing/document relates without the written

permission of the copyright owner is prohibited.

ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE, WORK TO FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.
REPORT DISCREPANCIES TO THE ARCHITECT AT ONCE BEFORE PROCEEDING

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
0m 42
SCALE - 1:100

101 3 5

MATERIALS

Roof - red heather concrete interlocking tiles
Walls - Off white render, soft red multi stock bricks
Features - Brick band courses between render and
brickwork. Tiled subcills to windows
Windows - white uPVC
Balconies - Black polyester powder coated steel
Rainwater goods - Black uPVC

Please refer to LSE-2721-03-AC-Materials Schedule v3 for
further details.

To be read in conjunction with illustrative coloured
elevations drawing - LSE-2721-3-AC-106

Wall integrated bird nest box (6 no.) - to be incorporated

Wall integrated bat roost box (4 no.) - to be incorporated

   Solid painted timber panelling

LSE-2721-3-AC-107     J

East Elevation West Elevation

North Elevation

South Elevation

Green Roof - East Sectional Elevation Green Roof - West Sectional Elevation

24/02/22A First Stage 3 WIP Issue RAW

11/04/22B
Parapet added to Green Roof edge at 2nd floor
level. Additional RWPs added RAW

21/04/22C
Some windows increased in size to improve
daylight / sunlight RAW

27/04/22D Bird and bat boxes added RAW

17/05/22E
False dormer added to west elevation. Obscured
glazing added to north elevation RAW

06/09/22F Amends following planning officer comments TL

29/09/22G
Updates to windows, doors, finials, AOVs as per
planning officer comments TL

19/10/22H
Gable windows amended on west elevation,
feature piers added to north elevation TL

17/11/22J
Chimneys added, windows and doors
updated to suite local vernacular TL

55

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
Drawing Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
Checked

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
Rev.

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
Drawing No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
Scale   

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
Project Title

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
Division

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
Project Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
Stage

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
Discipline

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
Revision

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
Rev

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
Comment

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
Initial



T
his page is intentionally left blank



57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



20 Chalkwell Avenue67



Application 
Property  68



Site and 
neighbour 
to north 

Site

69



Streetscene

Site

70



Site and 
neighbour 
to south

Site 

71



Existing 
relationship 
to north 
boundary

72



Existing 
side 
elevation 
facing 
neighbour 
to north 

73



View from 
rear and 
existing  
relationship 
with 
neighbour 
to north 

74



Existing 
building 
viewed from 
neighbouring 
garden 18 
Chalkwell
Avenue

75



Existing 
building 
viewed from 
neighbouring 
garden at 18 
Chalkwell
Avenue 

76



Rear 
Elevation 

77



Rear 
elevation78



South side 
elevation 
and 
relationship 
to south 
boundary

79



Existing 
outlook to 
south 
towards 
Kingswell

80



Outlook to 
east towards 
properties in 
Imperial 
Avenue

81



Looking 
north east 
from patio 
of 63 
Imperial 
Avenue

16-18 Chalkwell Avenue 

82



Looking 
towards the 
site from the 
garden of 63 
Imperial 
Avenue

20 Chalkwell Avenue (Site) 

83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

Reference: 21/00290/UNAU_B 

Report Type: Enforcement 

Ward: Thorpe 

 

Breach of Planning Control: Erection of single storey side extension and a part-single- , 
part-two-storey rear extension 

Address: 42 Tyrone Road, Thorpe Bay, SS1 3HF 

Case Opened Date:  04 October 2021 

Case Officer: Edward Robinson / Gabriella Fairley 

Recommendation: AUTHORISE ENFORCEMENT ACTION 
 

 

 

 

 

  

42, Tyrone Road, Thorpe Bay, SS1 
3HF

85

5



1 Site and Surroundings 
 

1.1 The site is on the eastern side of Tyrone Road. The site contains a three-storey 
detached dwelling. The dwelling is surrounded by traditional residential dwellinghouses. 
The site is not within a conservation area or a flood zone and is not subject to any site-
specific planning policy designations. 
 

2 Lawful Planning Use 
 

2.1 The lawful planning use is as a dwellinghouse within Use Class C3 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended). 
 

3 Relevant Planning History 
  

3.1 None. 
 

4 Planning Policy Summary 
  

4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 

4.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021) 
 

4.3 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP2 (Development Principles), CP4 (Environment and 
Urban Renaissance) 

 
4.4 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM3 

(Efficient and Effective Use of Land)  
 

4.5 Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 
 

4.6 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 
 

5 The alleged planning breach, harm caused and efforts to resolve breach to date  
 

5.1 The identified breach of planning control is: 
 
- The erection of a single storey side extension and a part-single-, part-two-storey rear 

extension without planning permission.  
 

5.2 In October 2021 a complaint was received by the Council alleging a two-storey extension 
had been erected. No planning application has been submitted for this extension. The 
extension exceeds the limitations of householder permitted development rights, due to 
its size and scale.  

 
5.3 Contact has been made with the homeowner requesting the submission of a planning 

application for the works on numerous occasions. However, no further action has been 
undertaken by the homeowner in regard to submitting an application. 
 
Impact on the Character of the Area 
 

5.4 Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so 
that it adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its 
local context and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and 
enhances the distinctiveness of place; and contributes positively to the space between 
buildings and their relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Design and 

86



Townscape Guide provide further details on how this can be achieved.  
 

5.5 No.42 sits within an unusually wide plot for the area. As a result, the garden wraps 
around the side and rear of the dwelling, resulting in the dwelling being highly visible 
from Tyrone Road. The part single, part two-storey rear extension is a large-scale 
addition to the rear of the property that can be seen from Tyrone Road. The rear 
extension is of a contrived and poor design, with a flat roof resulting in an incongruous 
addition that is materially out of keeping in the area. Given the size, scale and design of 
the rear addition and given its location and visibility from the streetscene, this part of the 
development results in significant harm to the character and appearance of the host 
dwelling, the streetscene and the wider surrounding area.  

 
5.6 The single-storey side extension is not particularly visible from the streetscene so  has 

a limited impact on the character of the streetscene. Whilst on its own this aspect of the 
development could be acceptable in design terms or impact on character, as part of the 
whole project, it forms part of the unacceptable and harmful development. 

 
5.7 The unauthorised development at the site is considered to be unacceptable and contrary 

to policy in terms of its impact on the character and appearance of the site, the 
streetscene and the area more widely. The unauthorised development is contrary to the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy 
(2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and 
the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 
and the National Design Guide (2021). 
 
Amenity Impacts 
 

5.8 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality 
development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, 
immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, 
outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. 
Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape 
Guide.  

 
5.9  A set of doors  have been  installed at first-floor level in the rear of the extension. 

Although at the time of the site visit there were no balustrades installed, there is a 
possibility that the owners wish to use the roof of the ground-floor rear extension as a 
balcony. Although there is currently some screening provided by trees between Nos. 42, 
40, 46 Tyrone Road and Nos. 39, 41 and 43 The Broadway, these cannot reasonably 
be considered as mitigating elements with significant weight. Generally, trees could be 
removed or pruned or die of natural causes limiting any mitigation against overlooking 
they might currently offer. With this in mind, it is considered that the development is 
unacceptable in this respect and would result in significant harm to the residential 
amenity of the adjoining and nearby residents in terms of overlooking and loss of privacy.  
 

5.10 The part single storey, part two storey rear extension  is 5.3m high and extends beyond 
the rear of the  host dwelling by a maximum of 5m. The single storey side extension is 
located along the boundary of the neighbouring property, No. 40 and the rear extension 
is connected to this. No.40 has two sets of openings on its ground floor rear elevation, 
both of which, on balance, are considered to serve as primary sources of light and 
outlook for habitable rooms. Given its location on the boundary and the significant depth 
of the ground-floor part of the rear enlargement and the additional rear bulk at first-floor 
level, the development results in a significantly harmful sense of enclosure and 
overbearing impact to the neighbour to the south; No.40 Tyrone Road.  

87



 

5.11 It is considered that the amenity impacts of the unauthorised development, in terms of 
overlooking, creating a material sense of enclosure and an overbearing impact are of a 
significant degree and cause significant and demonstrable harm to the residential 
amenity of neighbouring occupiers, particularly those at No. 40 Tyrone Road. The 
unauthorised development is therefore contrary to the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 
and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained 
within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the National 
Design Guide (2021). 
 
Enforcement Action 

 
5.12 Given the significant harm identified above, it is reasonable, expedient and in the public 

interest to pursue enforcement action in the circumstances of this case. Enforcement 
action in this case will reasonably aim to secure the removal of the unauthorised side 
and rear extensions in their entirety and remove from the site all materials resulting from 
compliance with the removal of the extensions. No lesser steps that could remedy the 
identified breach or associated harm have been identified. 
 

5.13 Staff consider that taking enforcement action is proportionate and justified in the 
circumstances of the case and that an enforcement notice should be served as this will 
bring further focus to the need for the breach to be regularised and the identified harm 
to be remedied. Service of an enforcement notice carries its own right of appeal and 
does not fetter the owner in seeking to gain planning permission for a different proposal 
which remedies the identified harm. 

  
5.14 Taking enforcement action in this case may amount to an interference with the 

owner/occupier’s human rights. However, it is necessary for the Council to balance the 
rights of the owner/occupiers against the legitimate aims of the Council to regulate and 
control land within its area in the public interest. 

 
6 Equality and Diversity Issues 

 
6.1 The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in 

the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, and victimisation, and must advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. Officers have, in considering this planning 
enforcement case and preparing this report, had careful regard to the requirements of 
the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that the decision 
recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation. 

 
7 Recommendation 

 
7.1 Members are recommended to AUTHORISE ENFORCEMENT ACTION to: 

 
a) Remove from the site the side and rear extensions in their entirety, and 
b) Remove from site all materials resulting from compliance with a)  

 
 
 

 

88



7.2 The authorised enforcement action to include (if/as necessary) the service of an 
Enforcement Notice under Section 172 of the Act and the pursuance of proceedings 
whether by prosecution or injunction to secure compliance with the requirements of the 
Enforcement Notice. 

 
7.3 When serving an Enforcement Notice the Local Planning Authority must ensure a 

reasonable time for compliance. In this case a compliance period of 3 months is 
considered reasonable for the removal of the unauthorised extensions. 
 

 
 
 

89



This page is intentionally left blank



42 Tyrone Road
Site photos

91



Aerial view of Tyrone Road 
in 2010 prior to the 
development

92



Aerial photo of 42 Tyrone 
Road, including the 
unauthorised 
development 

93



View of site in 
the background 
from Tyrone 
Road

94



Rear view of the 
site including the 
unauthorised 
development

95



Side elevation of 
the first-floor 
element of the 
rear extension

96



The rear and side 
amenity space and 
the unauthorised 
development

97



View of the 
unauthorised 
development from 
the side

98



The single-storey 
side extension in 
relation to 
neighbouring 
property  

99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Reference: 19/00204/UNAU_B 

Report Type: Enforcement  

Ward: Milton 

 

Breach of Planning Control: Erection of a rear balcony 

Address: 34 Retreat Road, Westcliff-on-Sea, SS0 7NN 

Case Opened: 10 July 2019 

Case Officer: Edward Robinson / Gabriella Fairley 

Recommendation: AUTHORISE ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

34 Retreat Road, Westcliff-on-
Sea, SS0 7NN

101

6



1 Site and Surroundings 

1.1 This site on the eastern side of Retreat Road  contains a mid-terraced building, which 
has been converted from a single dwellinghouse into flats. The building is surrounded 
by traditional residential dwellinghouses. The site is not within a conservation area or a 
flood zone and is not subject to any site-specific planning policy designations. 

2 Lawful Planning Use 

2.1 The lawful planning use of the site is as a residential dwelling (flat) within Class C3 (a) 
of the Town and Country Planning (Use Class Order) 1987 (as amended). 

3 Relevant Planning History 

3.1 None. 

4 Planning Policy Summary 

4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

4.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021) 

4.3 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP2 (Development Principles), CP4 (Environment and 
Urban Renaissance) 

4.4 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM3 
(Efficient and Effective Use of Land) 

4.5 Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 

4.6 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 

5 The alleged planning breach, harm caused and efforts to resolve breach to date  

5.1 The identified breach of planning control is: 

- The erection of a balcony to the rear of the building. 
 

5.2 In July 2019 a complaint was received by the Council alleging that a balcony had been 
created or extended at No 34 Retreat Road. No planning application has been submitted 
for the balcony and it could not have been created or enlarged under permitted 
development provisions as the site is a flat. 

5.3 Contact has been made with the owner/occupier requesting the submission of a 
planning application for the works on numerous occasions, including reasonably 
allowing for setbacks due to the Covid-19 pandemic. However, no further action has 
been undertaken by the homeowner in regard to submitting an application or otherwise 
remedying the identified harm. 

Amenity Impacts 

5.4 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality 
development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, 
immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, 
outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. 
Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape 
Guide.  

102



5.5 No.34 sits within a row of eleven terraced buildings, originally constructed as 
dwellinghouses. No.34 has a shared boundary with No. 32 and No.36. The balcony is 
located to the rear elevation of an existing rear outrigger, which is joined to No.32, and 
is accessed by a staircase connecting the rear garden to the first floor flat. Whilst a 
staircase and a landing platform had been a feature of this elevation historically, and is 
replicated on several properties nearby, the previously installed platform served solely 
as an access function and was not large enough to allow use as an external seating 
area and was narrower than the development currently on site. The balcony is along the 
shared boundary with No.32, sitting directly above the amenity space of that neighbour. 
Due to the location and size of the balcony as well as the height at which the balcony is 
positioned, it is considered that the development causes significant harm to the 
residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers of No.32 in terms of overlooking, loss of 
privacy and in terms of creating an overbearing relationship. 

5.6 In regard to No. 36, there is a small separation between the rear outrigger, where the 
balcony is located, and the shared boundary. Whilst it is noted that No.36 also has a 
staircase connecting the garden with a first-floor platform at the rear, that platform is not 
large enough to be used as a balcony. Despite the separation distance from that 
neighbour, it is considered that any occupiers using the balcony will be able to look 
directly onto No. 36’s rear amenity space. Therefore, it is considered that the 
development is harmful to the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers of the 
ground floor flat at No.36 in terms of overlooking and a loss of privacy. 

5.7 The relationship with other neighbouring properties is considered acceptable due to the 
separation distances involved or giving weight to the relationship prior to the balcony 
being installed at the site.  

5.8 It is considered that the amenity impacts of the unauthorised development, in terms of 
overlooking and loss of privacy are of a significant degree and cause significant and 
demonstrable harm to the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers at Nos. 32 and 
36 Retreat Road. The development has also created an overbearing effect to the 
detriment of the residential amenity of No. 32 Retreat Road. The unauthorised 
development is therefore contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), 
Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the 
Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the National Design Guide 
(2021). 

Enforcement Action 

5.9 Given the harm identified above, it is reasonable, expedient and in the public interest to 
pursue enforcement action in the circumstances of this case. Enforcement action in this 
case will reasonably aim to secure the removal of the unauthorised rear balcony in its 
entirety and remove from the site all materials resulting from compliance with the 
removal of the balcony. It is considered that there are no lesser steps that could remedy 
the identified breach or associated harm. Installing a platform to facilitate access would 
require separate planning permission and a reasonable timeframe for compliance ought 
to take this into account. 

5.10 Staff consider that taking enforcement action is proportionate and justified in the 
circumstances of the case and that an enforcement notice should be served as this will 
bring further focus to the need for the breach to be regularised and the identified harm 
to be remedied. Service of an enforcement notice carries its own right of appeal and 

103



does not fetter the owner in seeking to gain planning permission for a different proposal 
which remedies the identified harm.   

5.11 Taking enforcement action in this case may amount to an interference with the 
owner/occupier’s human rights. However, it is necessary for the Council to balance the 
rights of the owner/occupiers against the legitimate aims of the Council to regulate and 
control land within its area in the public interest. 

6 Equality and Diversity Issues 

6.1 The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in 
the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, and victimisation, and must advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. Officers have in considering this planning 
enforcement case and preparing this report had careful regard to the requirements of 
the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that the decision 
recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation. 

7 Recommendation 

7.1 Members are recommended to AUTHORISE ENFORCEMENT ACTION to: 

 
a) Remove from the site the rear balcony in its entirety, and 

 
b) Remove from site all materials resulting from compliance with a)  

 
7.2 The authorised enforcement action to include (if/as necessary) the service of an 

Enforcement Notice under Section 172 of the Act and the pursuance of proceedings 
whether by prosecution or injunction to secure compliance with the requirements of the 
Enforcement Notice. 

7.3 When serving an Enforcement Notice the Local Planning Authority must ensure a 
reasonable time for compliance. In this case a compliance period of 5 months is 
considered reasonable for the removal of the unauthorised balcony and the materials 
resulting in compliance with this.  

 
 
 

 

104



34 Retreat Road
Site photos

105



Rear view of 34 Retreat 
Road from Canewdon
Road in 2009, prior to the 
unauthorised 
development. 

106



View of the rear of 
the site and 
neighbouring 
properties from 
Canewdon Road

107



Unauthorised balcony to 
the rear of 34 Retreat 
Road, seen from alleyway 
accessed from Canewdon 
Road

108



The unauthorised 
balcony and 
neighbouring balcony 
seen from the alleyway 
accessed from 
Canewdon Road 

109



View of the rear of the 
site from Canewdon
Road 

110


	Agenda
	 Contents List and Introduction
	SPA	-	Special Protection Area.  An area designated for special protection under the terms of the European Community Directive on the Conservation of Wild Birds.
	Ramsar Site	-	Describes sites that meet the criteria for inclusion in the list of Wetlands of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention.  (Named after a town in Iran, the Ramsar Convention is concerned with the protection of wetlands, especially those important for migratory birds)

	 Reports on Applications with Pre-Meeting Site Visit
	4 22/01151/FULM - Laburnums, 20 Chalkwell Avenue, Westcliff on Sea (Chalkwell Ward)
	1	Site and Surroundings
	1.1	The existing detached building on the site is a large Edwardian house most recently used as a care home but now vacant.  It has a feature turret to the front and is articulated  with a number of decorative elements including tall curved bays with tile decoration and a grand porch. It is typical of the older buildings seen in Chalkwell Avenue. The building is showing signs of neglect including loss of the original balcony to the front. A large modern conservatory has been added to the east side towards the front and two large external fire escape stairs to the rear. There is a double garage to the rear of the site which is the same age as the main building. The rear of the site is overgrown. Aside from its deteriorating condition, the building makes a generally positive contribution to the streetscene of Chalkwell Avenue but has no statutory or non-statutory heritage designations.
	1.2	To the north of the site is a group of semi-detached and then detached single family houses with deep frontages and feature double bays and chimneys. To the south, the site at the junction with Imperial Avenue was redeveloped in the 1980s and contains a modern sheltered housing scheme arranged as two linked wings. This development is typical of 1980s architecture, lacking in detailing and with shorter proportions than the rest of the street.
	1.3	Chalkwell Avenue and the wider Chalkwell Hall Estate is generally characterised by large well-articulated early C20 houses and is one of the City’s most characterful housing areas. Most properties are 2-3 storeys with generously proportioned pitched roofs often with accommodation in the roofspace. The dwellings are generally well-detailed with a range of features including bays and gables, feature entrances and dormers. They are mostly red brick and/or render with red/brown tiled roofs and tall windows. Decorative timbering and tile hanging and rough cast render are commonplace and add further articulation and interest to the streetscene contributing to local distinctiveness. The designs of the individual properties are varied but there is a cohesiveness in style, level of articulation and materials which gives the area a recognisable character.
	1.4	The dwellings are situated on a consistent and generous building line facing Chalkwell Avenue with planted frontages, most with some parking, and gardens to the rear. Some of the buildings in the area including along the upper section of Chalkwell Avenue and Imperial Avenue close to the site have been converted to flats or retirement homes and have been significantly extended to the rear and this has impacted on the grain of the area but generally a consistent scale of development is maintained to the front facing the street.
	1.5	Chalkwell Avenue, a classified road, is a key route from the A13 to the seafront. The site is in Flood zone 1 (low risk). There are no specific policy designations in this location.

	2	The Proposal
	2.1	The proposal seeks permission to demolish the existing buildings and erect a part two/part three storey building comprising 27 no. retirement living apartments with associated landscaping and parking. The proposed building has a stepped frontage which is a maximum of 26.5m wide with an eaves height of 8m and a ridge height of 11.9m. It is a maximum of 52.7m deep including the projecting gables to the front but is split into 3 sections, a front wing 22m deep, a rear wing 12.9m deep and a narrower linking section of 17.8m.
	2.2	The proposal would be constructed of red brick and rough cast render with a red tile roof.
	2.3	The proposal’s  27 retirement apartments comprise 11x 1 bed units and 16 x 2 bed units including 3 wheelchair units and 21 off street parking spaces accessed via the existing crossover onto Chalkwell Avenue. 16 of the 27 apartments have a private balcony or terrace and there is a communal garden of some 110 sqm. The proposal also includes a reception area, communal lounge, guest suite, scooter store and refuse store. At least one resident of each flat will be required to be over the age of 60.
	2.4	The design detailing of the proposal has been amended during the course of the application.

	3	Relevant Planning History
	3.1	The most relevant planning history for the determination of this application is shown on Table 1 below:

	4	Representation Summary
	Call-in
	4.1	The application has been called in to Development Control Committee by Councillor Folkard.
	Public Consultation
	4.2	58 neighbours were consulted, a site notice displayed and a press notice published. 8 letters of representation have been received from 4 different households raising the following summarised issues:
		The area is characterised by single family dwellings with large gardens to the rear so the proposal will be out of character. Kingswell is a corner site so does not justify this change.
		The depth of the building is out of character with the area including those on Imperial Avenue.
		The scale of the building generally is out of character and conflicts with the grain of the area.
		Loss of existing historic building which makes a positive contribution to the character of Chalkwell Avenue.
		The proposal will be overbearing on neighbours - the building extends significantly further into the site than the existing building and will be the full length of the neighbours’ garden at 2-3 storeys.
		Loss of privacy, 10m separation to the boundary is not sufficient to prevent overlooking. Other flatted development in the area achieves a greater separation distance. Impact on mental health of neighbours.
		Overlooking can still occur from Juliette balconies.
		Overshadowing and loss of sunlight to neighbouring amenity areas especially in winter - the shadow diagram is not accurate.
		The rear building line should be no more than at Kingswell to the south.
		The proposal for a much more intensive use will result in noise and disturbance of neighbouring properties. Sound attenuation is needed. The noise report does not assess the impact of the development on neighbours. Concern over noise and fumes from the proposed parking area and from deliveries and collections to the building.
		Lack of amenity space for some units which do not have private balconies or terraces. The communal garden will not be enough for these residents.
		The location of the required wheelchair units and their parking spaces is unclear.
		There is not enough disabled parking.
		Lack of parking - 0.77 per unit is not enough. There is no visitor parking. The proposal will result in on street parking.
		Concern that a refuse lorry will need to reverse into the site against the traffic flow.
		Impact on bats, foxes and badgers.
		The proposal conflicts with national and local planning policy and guidance.
		The Daylight and Sunlight report was produced before the latest amendment to the guidelines.
		Loss of trees on the south boundary is positive as these are causing a nuisance for neighbours.
		The demolition of the building goes against the aims of  sustainable development and climate change. It should be retained and reused and extended.
		The benefit of 26 additional houses is not outweighed by the harm caused by this proposal.
	Officer Comment: These concerns are noted and those that represent material planning considerations have been taken into account in the assessment of the application. However, they are not found to represent a reasonable basis to refuse planning permission in the circumstances of this case.

	Housing
	4.3	As a Major scheme the proposal would be required to contribute to affordable housing equivalent to 20% which equates to a minimum 6 units (4 x 1 bed affordable rent and 2 x 2 bed shared ownership).
	On this occasion sufficient evidence has been provided to demonstrate that Anchor, a specialist registered provider (RP) for this accommodation type, do not believe it works for them. The other local RP’s which we would usually consider are focused on general needs accommodation, not retirement housing, so are not relevant.
	In this case, given the outcome of the independent financial viability review, the proposed surplus of £221,165 is acceptable as the financial contribution in lieu of (on site) affordable housing

	Highways
	4.4	The applicant has demonstrated the site benefits from being in a sustainable location with regard to public transport with good links in close proximity. 21 off street car parking spaces have been provided for the proposal this equates to 0.77% which is acceptable and this ratio has been accepted on other developments. Secure cycle parking can also be accommodated to policy compliant levels. The applicant has also provided TRICS analysis which has demonstrated the proposal will not have a detrimental impact on the local highway network.
	A travel plan and travel packs will also be provided and should be conditioned.
	Given the above information and the detailed transport statement there are no highway objections to this proposal.

	Travel Plan Officer
	4.5	The Travel Plan and TIP (Travel Information Pack) are generally well organised and thought-out with good information but a number of amendments are suggested which need to be actioned before these documents can be agreed.

	Environmental Health
	4.6	The Acoustic Assessment assesses the potential noise impacts from local road traffic noise and plant and equipment and deliveries at the Aldi store on London Road (to the rear, north-east of the site). The report indicates that internal noise levels can be mitigated with acoustic glazing and building structure and recommends that alternative means of ventilation are available. However the report finds the external private amenity noise levels on the western facade are in excess of the recommended noise levels in BS8233 by 10 dB(A). This is excused by the report but mitigation is required and needs to be evaluated. This can be covered by a condition.
	The Site Investigation report has found that there is a low risk from land contamination due the site history. This is consistent with any information that the council holds.
	A comprehensive environmental construction method statement will need to be conditioned as there is the potential to cause disturbance from noise and dust to the adjacent residential properties.

	Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)
	4.7	No objections subject to a condition requiring the construction method statement to address surface water during construction, agreement from Anglian Water and modelling of drainage flows.

	Archaeology Curator
	4.8	No objections.

	Private Sector Housing
	4.9	No comments to make.

	Essex Fire Service
	4.10	No objections.

	Chalkwell Ward Residents Association
	4.11	Object to the proposal on the following grounds:
		There is an over supply of retirement housing in the vicinity of the site with 4 developments close by.
		Loss of landmark building which is important to local character on this key route.
		The footprint of the building is too large.
		Overlooking of neighbours.
		Impact on local services which are already under stress.
		Lack of visitor parking which will result in greater on street parking.
		Concern that the heating of the units will be unsustainable and unaffordable.
		Impact on bats.
		Controls over sub letting

	NHS
	4.12	The proposal is likely to have a severe impact on the health services and the surgeries which operate in the vicinity of the site. The case for independent living is noted however the existing GP surgeries do not have the capacity to accommodate the additional growth. The capacity of primary healthcare facilities in the area are already below the standards of provision for the existing population. The deficit would be unsustainable if unmitigated. Using our standard formula which is based on the number of dwellings and the requirement for 120sqm of floorspace per 1750 patients, and an average build cost per metre for new build health centres, a contribution of £12,700 is requested towards the creation of additional floorspace for GP surgeries. This should be included in the S106 for this site. [Officer Comment: Funding for community infrastructure including primary NHS services such as GP surgeries is secured through Community Infrastructure Levy which is explained at 7.88  of this report]

	Essex Badger Protection Group
	4.13	The Essex Badger Protection Group is currently aware of eleven badger setts within 1km of the application site, with the area known to contain a significant urban badger population. but none of these setts are considered close enough to the proposal to be at direct risk of harm. The amended Ecological Survey is acceptable in terms of mitigation for badgers at the site and during construction.

	Cadent Gas
	4.14	No objections subject to an informative regarding contact details for the applicant.

	Anglian Water
	4.15	Southend Water Recycling Centre will have available capacity for these flows. Full details of the surface water management strategy should be conditioned.

	Natural England
	4.16	The site falls within the Zone of Influence for one or more European designated sites. A contribution to RAMS should be secured via a S106.

	5	Planning Policy Summary
	5.1	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021)
	5.2	Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021)
	5.3	Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards (2015)
	5.4	Policies Core Strategy (2007): Policy KP1 (Spatial Strategy), Policy KP2 (Development Principles), Policy CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), Policy CP4 (The Environment and Urban Renaissance), Policy CP8 (Dwelling Provision).
	5.5	Development Management Document (2015): Policy DM1 (Design Quality), Policy DM2 (Low Carbon and Development and Efficient Use of Resources), Policy DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of Land), Policy DM8 (Residential Standards), Policy DM15 (Sustainable Transport Management).
	5.6	Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)
	5.7	Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement (2015)
	5.8	Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019)
	5.9	Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for new development Supplementary Planning Document (2021)
	5.10	Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2020)
	5.11	Planning Obligations: A Guide to Section 106 and Developer Contributions (2015)
	5.12	Interim Affordable Housing Policy (2016)
	5.13	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)
	5.14	Southend-on-Sea Vehicle Crossing Policy & Application Guidance (2021)

	6	Planning Considerations
	6.1	The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the development, the proposed dwelling mix, the design and impact on the character and appearance of the area, the standard of accommodation and residential amenity for future and neighbouring occupiers, traffic and parking implications, energy and water use sustainability, refuse and recycling storage, flooding and drainage, tree impacts, ecology and mitigation for impact on designated sites, developer contributions and CIL liability.

	Appraisal
	7	Principle of Development
	7.1	The provision of new high quality housing is a key Government objective.
	7.2	Paragraph 117 of the NPPF states ‘Planning policies and decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.’
	7.3	Amongst other policies to support sustainable development, the NPPF seeks to boost the supply of housing by delivering a wide choice of high quality homes. In relation to the efficient use of land Paragraph 124 states:
	124.  Planning policies and decisions should support development that makes efficient use of land, taking into account:
	a)  the identified need for different types of housing and other forms of
	development, and the availability of land suitable for accommodating it;
	b)  local market conditions and viability;
	c)  the availability and capacity of infrastructure and services – both existing and
	proposed – as well as their potential for further improvement and the scope to
	promote sustainable travel modes that limit future car use;
	d)  the desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing character and setting
	(including residential gardens), or of promoting regeneration and change; and
	e)  the importance of securing well-designed, attractive and healthy places.
	7.4	Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that “all new development contributes to economic, social, physical and environmental regeneration in a sustainable way”.
	7.5	Policy CP4 requires that new development “maximise the use of previously developed land, whilst recognising potential biodiversity value and promoting good, well-designed, quality mixed use developments” and that this should be achieved by “maintaining and enhancing the amenities, appeal and character of residential areas, securing good relationships with existing development, and respecting the scale and nature of that development”.
	7.6	Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy recognises that a significant amount of additional housing will be achieved by intensification (making more effective use of land) and requires that development proposals contribute to local housing needs. It seeks that 80% of residential development be provided on previously developed land.
	7.7	Policy DM3 of the Development Management Document states that “the  Council  will  seek  to  support  development  that  is  well  designed  and  that  seeks  to optimise the use of land in a sustainable manner that responds positively to local context and  does  not  lead  to  over-intensification,  which  would  result  in  undue  stress  on  local services, and infrastructure, including transport capacity”
	Change of use from Care Home to Older Persons Retirement Flats and The Need for Older Persons Accommodation
	7.8	Development Management Policy DM9 requires the provision of new care homes to be justified but does not protect existing care homes from redevelopment. There is therefore no objection in principle to the change of the site from care home to housing in this location. In relation to the need for housing for older persons the Planning Practice Guidance states ‘The need to provide housing for older people is critical. People are living longer lives and the proportion of older people in the population is increasing. In mid-2016 there were 1.6 million people aged 85 and over; by mid-2041 this is projected to double to 3.2 million. Offering older people a better choice of accommodation to suit their changing needs can help them live independently for longer, feel more connected to their communities and help reduce costs to the social care and health systems. Therefore, an understanding of how the ageing population affects housing needs is something to be considered from the early stages of plan-making through to decision-taking.’ and in respect of housing for older persons the Core Strategy states: ‘The 2011 Census highlights that Southend has a higher proportion of older people when compared to the national average. Notably, Southend has more adults aged 75 or over, including  those  aged  90  or  over,  comparative  to  England  (SHMA,  2013).  Population projections indicate that the proportion of older people in Southend is expected to rise.’
	7.9	The more recent demographic projections show that for Southend, the trend of an ageing population is expected to pick up significantly over the next 20 years. The number of people in this cohort was projected to rise by 38.5% (13,518) between 2018 and 2038, according to the 2018-based ONS population projections.
	7.10	The building is currently vacant but was most recently used as a care home for older persons not family housing. The principle of retirement flats in this location is therefore considered to be acceptable.
	7.11	Policy DM7 states that ‘the Council will encourage new development to provide a range of dwelling sizes and types to meet the needs of people with a variety of different lifestyles and incomes.’
	7.12	The proposed mix is 11 x 1 bed 2 person units and 16 x 2 bed 3 person units. This does not meet the requirements for policy DM7 but this mix is considered appropriate for a retirement facility where there are not expected to be any children living in the units. At least one resident of each flat will be required to be over the age of 60. In the case of a couple, that part of the lease is satisfied where one of the occupants is over 60 and the other is over 55.
	7.13	Given that the proposal is for older persons housing only, this mix contains a good range of flat sizes and is considered to be compatible with the objectives of  Policy DM7. The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.

	Affordable Housing
	7.14	Policy CP8 seeks an affordable housing provision of 20% for major residential proposals of 10-49 dwellings which should be split 60:40 between affordable rented and shared ownership units.  Were it to apply here, a policy compliant mix would comprise 2 affordable rented units and 2 shared ownership units.
	7.15	The need for negotiation with developers, and a degree of flexibility in applying affordable housing policy, is covered in Core Strategy policy CP8 that states: ‘The Borough Council will…enter into negotiations with developers to ensure that:
	…. all residential proposals of 10-49 dwellings or 0.3 hectares up to 1.99 hectares make an affordable housing or key worker provision of not less than 20% of the total number of units on site…For sites providing less than 10 dwellings (or below 0.3 ha) or larger sites where, exceptionally, the Borough Council is satisfied that on-site provision is not practical, they will negotiate with developers to obtain a financial contribution to fund off-site provision. The Council will ensure that any such sums are used to help address any shortfall in affordable housing.’
	7.16	Furthermore, the responsibility for the Council to adopt a reasonable and balanced approach to affordable housing provision, which takes into account financial viability and how planning obligations affect the delivery of a development, is reiterated in the supporting text at paragraph 10.17 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 2.7 of “Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations”.
	7.17	In lieu of on-site affordable housing provision, the Council’s Interim Affordable Housing Policy provides a mechanism to calculate the amount required for a financial contribution towards off-site provision where a proposal can provide fully policy compliant affordable housing. In line with that policy and in circumstances when a surplus is expected to be generated, the derived figure for a scheme of this nature and composition and which is demonstrably able to deliver fully policy compliant affordable housing would be £600,772.87.
	7.18	A financial viability appraisal (FVA) submitted with the application concludes that a policy compliant affordable housing contribution is unviable in this case. The submitted FVA has been reviewed for this Council by an independent consultant who concludes a surplus of £212,519 would be available for affordable housing provision. The applicant has agreed that this  sum of £212,519 can be secured through the S106 agreement as the development’s contribution for affordable housing provision. The Council’s Housing Team have accepted this figure and confirmed that the principle of a financial contribution in this case is reasonable as the applicant has demonstrated that on site provision of this level would be unfeasible in the circumstances applicable.
	7.19	Given the level of surplus calculated by the independent assessor acting on behalf of the Council  the proposal of a financial contribution of  £212,519  is considered to be justified in this specific case. Subject to securing this financial sum in the S106 agreement, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of affordable housing contribution. This funding will be used by the Council to provide affordable housing in the city by either purchasing units or helping to fund the Council’s affordable housing development programme.
	7.20	Overall, therefore, it is considered that the principle of this type and mix of development in this location is consistent with the policies noted above and is acceptable subject to the detailed considerations set out below.

	Design and Impact on the Character of the Area
	7.21	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development is well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.
	7.22	Paragraph 126 of the NPPF states ‘The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.’
	7.23	Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document states that “all development should add to the overall quality of the area and respect the character of the site, its local context and surroundings in terms of its architectural approach, height, size, scale, form, massing, density, layout, proportions, materials, townscape and/or landscape setting, use, and detailed design features.”
	Loss of Existing Building
	7.24	The existing building is a well detailed and attractive substantial property from the early C20 and makes a positive contribution to the character of the area. Equally, it has no heritage designations. It is not a listed building or in a conservation area  nor is it on the Council’s local list of historic buildings. Only buildings which are statutory listed or in a conservation area can be protected from demolition. Therefore, there is no reasonable basis for requiring this approach in the regeneration of this site. The proposed demolition of the existing building is therefore accepted in principle.

	Scale, Form and Layout
	7.25	The existing building is a substantial property set on a large plot and, significant gaps are maintained to both sides of the building such that, overall, it conveys a sense of  spaciousness to the site and its contribution to the  streetscene. The prevailing pattern of development within the site’s immediate environs  including the two pairs of semi-detached dwellings towards the site’s north has a closer spacing of development facing the street with defined gaps in between.
	7.26	The proposed new building is 3 storeys to the front and rear with a part 2 storey linking section to the middle on the north side. It  would be set 2.1m   from the flank boundary with  Kingswell to the south  and some 6.4m from the boundary No 18 Chalkwell Avenue to the north to allow for a vehicular access on this side. The building line is staggered and provides a transition between the building lines to the north and south which are not consistent. It is considered that a suitably spacious frontage to the street would be maintained in line with other properties in Chalkwell Avenue. The front building line and separation to neighbouring properties is therefore considered to be consistent with local character.
	7.27	The proposed building projects significantly rearward into the site, reducing in width in the centre section. This arrangement appears primarily to take reference from the site layout of Kingswell to the south which has an ‘H’ plan form on a similar alignment. The houses to the north only occupy the front section of their sites  which is the traditional pattern of development in the area.
	However , in addition to Kingswell, this pattern has been eroded over the years on other sites in the local vicinity of the application site including Nos 37, 45-47, 57 and 59 Imperial Avenue close by to the east and No 46 Chalkwell Avenue to the south which have all been significantly extended to their rear, deep into their sites and also by backland and infill development at Seymour Mews and No 58 Imperial Avenue in the next block to the south which has been built in the former garden area of No 36 Chalkwell Avenue. The following  factors have been given due weight in officers’ overall assessment of the character impact. Firstly, there have been alterations to the pattern of development in this immediate area such that this is now a recognisable trait of the pattern of development in particular northwards from the Imperial Avenue junction. Secondly it is considered that the depth of proposed built form will not be readily apparent from the street, such that the proposed development  would not, in this instance, cause any significant harm to the character and appearance of the streetscene or to the character and appearance of the site’s immediate surroundings.
	7.28	In terms of height and form, the submitted streetscene drawing demonstrates that the proposed 3 storeys to the front and the proportion of the roof does not appear out of scale in the wider context of Chalkwell Avenue.
	7.29	Overall, on balance, and as informed by the factors to which officers have given due weight above, the scale, form and layout of the proposal are considered to be acceptable and the proposal is policy compliant in this regard.
	Detailed Design
	7.30	The proposal is a traditional design which seeks to draw reference from the other properties in the area. It has feature gables to the front which are articulated with balconies and timber decoration, tall chimneys, a prominent porch and windows with fanlight detailing and a brick and rough cast render.  Amendments have been made during the course of the application such that officers consider the building’s  frontage to be well balanced, cohesive and ordered and subject to conditions relating to materials and key details, including the gables and eaves, windows including reveals and cills, porches and doors, chimneys and balconies it is considered that the overall design would have a satisfactory impact on the streetscene and character and appearance of the area.
	7.31	Overall, it is considered that the proposal would, on balance, have an acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the area and is policy compliant in this regard.
	7.32	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.
	7.33	The proposal is set 12.4m from the front building line stepping back to 15.2m for the northern section and forward to 9.9m for the projecting gables. This is consistent with the neighbours to the north and south. The proposal will not have an unacceptable impact on the front outlook of the neighbouring properties.
	Impact on neighbours to the north Nos 18 and 16  Chalkwell Avenue
	7.34	The development would be a minimum of 6.2m from the north boundary for the same depth as the neighbouring building, No 18 Chalkwell Avenue, after which the separation increases to 10m from the northern boundary following the stepped arrangement of the existing boundary towards the rear of the site. The neighbouring dwelling No 18 has 5 windows on its northern side facing the site. At its ground floor is a window to a kitchen diner which also has an outlook to the rear. Above are two flank landing windows and two bathroom windows. At the rear facing east, the closest windows at No 18 serve a kitchen/diner and bedroom. The main ground floor habitable room is on the northern side of No 18’s rear elevation with its outlook and private patio area shielded by the two storey rear projection at No 18 Chalkwell Avenue.
	7.35	The proposal has 6 habitable room windows (1 living room and 5 bedroom windows) and 3 further non habitable room windows on its north elevation facing No 18 at a separation of 10m from the boundary. The proposal has no projecting balconies facing northwards. . The proposal also has 3 further non habitable room windows in the front section of the building which would be 6.2m from the shared boundary and 9m from the flank of No 18 which can be conditioned to be obscure glazed. At second floor there are no proposed habitable room windows facing north towards No 18. There will as a result be an impact on No 18’s privacy. Of relevance, however, is that although of different depth and configuration, the existing building on the application site is 3.4m from the northern boundary and 5.9m from the flank of No 18. It has 7 windows in its northern elevation including a large first floor bay to a bedroom which has an outlook directly over the garden of No 18. The proposal would in comparison be 5.8m further away than the existing bay window in this location. Overall, it is considered that this element  of the relationship would not be significantly harmful to No 18’s privacy.
	7.36	Also taken into consideration is the depth of the proposal and the impact this would have on the outlook and sense of enclosure for habitable rooms and the rear amenity space of No 18.  Applying  a notional 45 degree line from the closest rear facing window of No 18 Chalkwell Avenue this would remain clear up to a distance of at least 15m from the rear of the two storey projection of the neighbour. It is also noted that the northern windows at ground and first floor level at No 18 are screened by the existing two storey rear projection so their outlook would be unaffected. In terms of its scale, the proposal drops to two storeys (5.1m eaves height and 6.8m max height) for a distance of 11.5m in the centre of the building facing the main garden area of No 18. This part of the development has a flat roof but it will not be used as a roof terrace which can be controlled by condition. It is also noted that the existing double garage with a pitched roof on the boundary with No 18 would be removed so this impact will be omitted. A  Daylight and Sunlight Assessment and Shadow Study have been submitted with the application. The report concludes that resultant conditions for No 18 Chalkwell Avenue would meet the target values as set out  in  the  BRE  Guidelines  for  daylight  (in  terms  of  VSC (Vertical Sky Component)) and  daylight  distribution)  and sunlight  (in  terms  of  APSH (Sunlight)).  The study shows that No 18   will   largely  see  an  improvement  in  its daylight  and  sunlight  to  the  rooms  and  windows  overlooking  the  site with the proposed scheme in place as compared with the existing building.  The submitted Shadow Study illustrates the shading from the proposal as compared to the existing at morning, noon and afternoon in March/September, June and December. This shows that  the shading impact to the front, side and rear of No 18 would be marginally improved as compared to the existing situation in June at noon and in March/September at 8am, noon and 4pm and very slightly impacted on the north side of the rear garden and at the front at 12 noon in December. The study shows that at   all other times the impact on shading of the amenity area of No 18 will not be materially different. The diagram does show a marginally worse impact on the rear garden of No 16 Chalkwell Avenue at 12 noon in December only when more of the rear garden would be in shade as compared to the existing situation. This additional shading would be towards the middle to end of the garden not close to the house which is in shade in both scenarios. A marginal impact is also noted at the front of the property at this time. The study concludes that at all other times of the year there is no shadowing impact on this property at all.
	7.37	On balance, it is considered that, subject to the described conditions,  the proposal, would have an acceptable impact on the amenities of occupiers of No 18 and No 16 Chalkwell Avenue in all relevant respects and that if concerns about this were identified regard would need to be had to the prevailing amenity impacts of the existing building on the site which, in the round, are considered to be comparable with those resulting from the proposal.
	Impact on neighbour to the south Kingswell Retirement Flats
	7.38	Kingswell has only kitchen and landing windows on the northern flanks of its ‘H’ layout facing the application site. All flats in that development face east, west or south away from the development site. In between these wings is a communal garden area screened on the boundary by a large hedge. The linking section, which contains a secondary window to the communal lounge and the laundry room is set back some 15m into that site.
	7.39	The proposal has 12 habitable room windows (6 living room and 6 bedroom windows) and 4 further non habitable room windows on its north elevation facing Kingswell at a separation of 10m from the boundary. The proposal has no projecting balconies facing south to limit the impact on this neighbour. The proposal also has 4 further non habitable room windows in the front section of the building which would be some 4m from the shared boundary and 5m from the flank of Kingswell but these align with the blank flank elevations of the neighbouring building and can be conditioned to be obscure glazed. Applying  a notional 45 degree line from the closest window  of Kingswell looking east this would be clear for a distance of at least 13m.  In respect of this neighbour the Daylight and Sunlight report concludes that ‘While there will be some noticeable impacts to 65 Imperial Avenue to the south of the site, the impacted windows [on the north elevation] serve small kitchens which are immediately adjoining to main living rooms which will be materially unaffected by the proposed scheme and  will  remain  well  daylit.’  The Shadow Study demonstrates that the proposal, which is to the north side of Kingswell, would not have a material impact at any time of year or day. Also to be taken into consideration is the depth of the proposal  and the impact this would have on the outlook and sense of enclosure for the rear amenity space of Kingswell. The relationship is considered to be acceptable in this regard subject to the described conditions. Furthermore due regard should be given to  existing building on the site which is some 17m from the southern boundary and some 18m from the flank of Kingswell. It has 10 windows in its southern elevation including a large first floor turret to a bedroom and two external fire escapes one of which extends to the 2nd floor. On balance, it is considered that, subject to the described conditions, the proposal, would have an acceptable impact on the amenities of occupiers of Kingswell in all relevant respects and that, if concerns about this were identified, regard would need to be had to the prevailing amenity impacts of the existing building on the site which, in the round, are considered to be comparable with those resulting from the proposal.
	Impact on neighbour to the east 63 Imperial Avenue
	7.40	The existing building is some 39m from the eastern boundary with the garden of No 63 Imperial Avenue to the west which stretches past Kingswell and adjoins the application site.
	7.41	The proposal would maintain a minimum of 16m to the east boundary to the garden of No 63 Imperial Avenue and 23.5m to the property itself. This distance to the boundary increases to 17.9m for the northern section of the development. The proposal has 11 habitable room windows (4 living room and 7 bedroom windows) and 1 further non habitable room window on its east elevation facing No 63 Imperial Avenue at a separation of at least 16m from the boundary. The proposal also has 2 projecting balconies facing east at first floor level which would be at least 14m from the east boundary and a further single Juliette balcony at second floor level.  It is considered that the 14m separation to the boundary is sufficient to ensure that the proposal would have an acceptable impact on the amenities of this neighbour in all relevant regards.  When assessing the amenity impacts on No 63 due regard should also be given to the relationship to No 63 of the existing building on the application site which has 2 habitable room windows facing east at the upper levels towards No 63 and 2 external fire escapes.
	7.42	On balance, it is considered that, subject to the described conditions, the proposal, would have an acceptable impact on the amenities of occupiers of No 63 in all relevant respects and that, if concerns about this were identified, regard would need to be had to the prevailing amenity impacts of the existing building on the site which, in the round, are considered to be at least comparable with those resulting from the proposal.
	7.43	On the above basis it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable and would comply with national and local planning policies in relation to neighbour amenity.
	Standard of Accommodation
	7.44	Delivering high quality homes is a key objective of the NPPF. Policy DM3 of the Development Management Document states that proposals should be resisted where they create a detrimental impact upon the living conditions and amenity of existing and future residents or neighbouring residents.
	Space Standards and Quality of Habitable Rooms.
	7.45	All new homes are required to meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) in terms of floorspace, bedroom size and storage sizes. The required overall sizes for residential units and the minimum standards for bedrooms are shown on the following table.
	7.46	The relevant dimensions of the proposed scheme are also shown on the table below.
	7.48	In relation to light levels of the proposal the Daylight and Sunlight study concludes ‘Internally to the scheme, 81% of primary habitable rooms will meet their ADF target values for daylight and 99% will meet for daylight distribution. 64% of living rooms will meet their APSH target values for sunlight. Overall, in our opinion, the scheme will  be  well  daylit  and  sunlit.  Where  rooms  do  not  meet  the  target  values,  this  is predominantly due to overhanging balconies which obstructed and overshadow the  window  directly  below.  There  is  inevitably  a  trade  off  between  providing  a source  of  private  amenity,  which  is  highly  desired,  and  achieving  high  levels  of internal daylight/sunlight .’ This conclusion is considered to be reasonable and it is considered that the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	Noise and Disturbance
	7.49	The site is in close proximity of London Road and Chalkwell Avenue which are main traffic routes and near to the Aldi Store on London Road. An acoustic assessment has been submitted with the application to assess the impacts of these noise sources on the new development. The report concludes that ‘The design of the development is considered to be acceptable subject to the adoption of acoustically  upgraded  glazing  and  MVHR  ventilation  for  apartments.’ This can be secured via condition. In terms of the amenity areas the report notes that the balconies and terraces on the western elevation fronting Chalkwell Avenue would exceed the recommended noise levels however it concludes that this would not make them unusable and the communal garden area to the rear of the property would meet the standards. It is therefore considered that, subject to a condition requiring the implementation of the recommended noise mitigations measures, the new dwellings’ living conditions would be acceptable in terms of noise and disturbance impacts.
	M4(2) and M4(3) – Accessibility
	7.50	Policy DM8 also requires all new dwellings to be accessible and adaptable to Building Regulations M4(2) standards and 10% of the units (here 3 units) to be M4(3) wheelchair compatible units. This includes providing 3 disabled parking spaces and a lift to all flats. The plans show that units 1,2 and 3 are M4(3) compliant. The remainder are M4(2) compliant. This can be secured by condition. The proposal is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	Amenity Provision
	7.51	16 of  the proposed dwellings, those which face west and the lower levels of the east elevation and at ground floor, where they would not give rise to overlooking, have a private balcony or terrace. There is also a communal garden of 110sqm. This will provide adequate amenity space for all  residents. Noting also that the site is directly opposite Chalkwell Park, the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	7.52	Overall, it is considered that the proposal will provide a satisfactory standard of accommodation for future occupiers and is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	Traffic and Transportation Issues
	7.53	The NPPF states (para 111) that “Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.”
	7.54	Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document aim to improve road safety, quality of life and equality of access for all.
	7.55	The standard for retirement apartments set out in Appendix 6 of policy DM15 is a minimum of 1 parking space per unit and 1 cycle space per 8 flats. Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document states: “All development should meet the parking standards (including cycle parking) set out in appendix 6. Residential vehicle parking standards may be applied flexibly where it can be demonstrated that the development is proposed in a sustainable location with frequent and extensive links to public  transport  and/or  where  the  rigid  application  of  these  standards  would  have  a  clear detrimental impact on local character and context. Reliance  upon  on-street  parking  will  only  be  considered  appropriate  where  it  can  be demonstrated by the applicant that there is on-street parking capacity.’
	7.56	The site is located close to the London Road bus routes, is opposite  Chalkwell Park, and within reasonable walking distance of the seafront, local shops and Chalkwell Station. 21 car parking spaces, including 3 spaces for disabled users, are proposed to the rear of the building. This is equivalent to 0.77 spaces per unit. All parking spaces will have access to an EV charging point. A scooter store for 6 mobility scooters is also provided within the building.
	7.57	A Transport Statement has been submitted with the application. This comments that the site is in a sustainable location close to frequent public transport links and that the provision on site has been informed by research at other McCarthy and Stone sites which have identified an average of 0.45 parking spaces per unit plus 0.1 spaces for visitor parking equivalent to 0.55 spaces. With 0.77 spaces per unit proposed the Transport Statement concludes  that there would be no overspill onto surrounding streets.
	7.58	It is considered that the proposed parking provision at the site would not result in a severe impact on the local road network. The Council’s Highways team has raised no objections to the proposal in terms of parking provision, highway safety or impact on the highway network. The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in terms of parking provision
	Cycle Storage
	7.59	Policy DM15 sets a standard of 1 cycle space per 8 retirement dwellings. That equates here to 4 cycle parking spaces. The submitted transport statement comments that spaces for 4 cycles for residents and visitors can be accommodated in the buggy store. This is acceptable and the proposal is policy compliant in this regard.
	Travel Packs
	7.60	A proposal of this scale is required to provide Travel Packs to new residents so that they are made aware of alternative travel options. A draft Travel Pack and Transport Information Pack have been submitted. Once these have been agreed through liaison with the Council’s Sustainable Travel Officer the provision of these documents can be secured within the S106 agreement. The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	Refuse and Recycling and Cycle Storage
	7.61	The Southend Waste Management Guidelines for 22-30 flats recommend 3 x 1100 litre bins for recycling, 4 x 1100 litre bins for general waste plus card and food waste containers as required. The submitted plans show a refuse and recycling store within the building with provision for 3 x 1100 litre euro bins and 3 x 360 litre wheelie bins. This is below the recommended standards but the submitted Waste Management Strategy comments that the Council’s Guidelines are based on 3 person households which is above that proposed in the current development. It also notes that extra collections can be arranged by the building managers as required. Taking this into account it is considered that the proposed arrangements are acceptable and the proposal is policy compliant in this regard.
	Construction Management Plan
	7.62	The site is constrained and close to neighbours and the scheme will involve significant demolition. It is therefore reasonable to require a construction management plan to be submitted and agreed prior to the commencement of the works. This can be required by condition.
	7.63	Overall, the proposal is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in terms of Traffic and Transportation subject to the  described conditions.
	Sustainability
	7.64	Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that: “at least 10% of the energy needs of new development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised renewable or low carbon energy sources)”. Policy DM2 of the Development Management Document states that: “to ensure the delivery of sustainable development, all development proposals should contribute to minimising energy demand and carbon dioxide emissions”. This includes energy efficient design and the use of water efficient fittings, appliances and water recycling systems such as grey water and rainwater harvesting.
	7.65	An Energy Statement has been submitted with the application. This states that the predicted energy use for the building is 139,114.63 kWh/yr of which 13,911.46 kWh/yr will be provided by PVs (equivalent to a 15.46 kWp system). A mechanical ventilation heat recovery system is also proposed to recycle waste heat back into the building. Water efficient fittings are proposed. These measures can be secured by condition. The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	Sustainable Drainage
	7.66	All major schemes are required to demonstrate how they incorporate sustainable drainage systems (SUDS) to mitigate the increase in surface water runoff. A Sustainable Drainage Assessment and supplementary details have been submitted with the application. The Lead Local Flood Authority have reviewed these details and confirmed that they are broadly acceptable and that a full drainage scheme can be agreed by condition. The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard
	7.67	Subject to these conditions, the proposal is considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in regard to sustainable development and drainage.
	Ecology
	7.68	Core Strategy Policy KP2 and Development Management Policy DM2 require development to respect, conserve and enhance biodiversity. Neighbours have reported seeing bats and badgers in the vicinity.
	7.69	An Ecology Report has been submitted with the application. In relation to bats the survey states:
	‘There was no evidence of bats recorded during the internal and external inspection of the buildings and only moderate roosting potential was identified in relation to the buildings where there are areas of tile hanging, gaps around dormer windows/roof, low numbers of slipped/damaged tiles and small areas of missing mortar. There was no evidence of bats recorded during the assessment of the trees and the majority are considered to have negligible potential for bats due to their immaturity and/or obvious absence of suitable roosting features.’
	7.70	The results of the 2020 and 2022 dusk emergence/pre-dawn re-entry surveys consistently indicate that very low numbers of common pipistrelle bats use parts of the tile hung aspects of the building in what are considered to be ‘day’ roost locations of low conservation significance. Bats were not recorded emerging from/re-entering the detached garage building during the surveys. Both dusk emergence and pre-dawn surveys have been undertaken at the site on 6 occasions and on each occasion only 2 bats were seen emerging from the tile hanging which is considered to be low, although bat activity in the general area was much higher. Under Natural England guidelines the site is considered to be of low significance and the proposed works would cause low scale of impact. The applicant’s report confirms that best practice measures will be used in the demolition of the building under licence from Natural England. 6 bat boxes are proposed to be installed as part of the new development.
	7.71	The conclusions of this report in relation to bats are considered to be reasonable and the mitigation measures can be secured by condition.
	7.72	In relation to Badgers the report concludes that:
	‘Despite the neighbour representations, there has been no evidence recorded for the presence of badger from within the site during the 2020 and 2022 PEA survey visits. Therefore, the proposed works should not have a direct impact on a badger sett or on individual badgers.  However, it is possible that badgers may occasionally transit through the site and could therefore be at risk of indirect impacts associated with the construction phase of the proposed works. To avoid the  risk  of  this  occurring,  precautionary  mitigation  measures  are  recommended  ’
	7.73	The report includes a number of measures to protect badgers during construction. The Essex Badger Protection Group have not raised any objections to this document or its recommended mitigation measure which can be secured by condition.
	Other Protected Species
	7.74	In relation to breeding birds the report notes ‘ Although no evidence for actively breeding birds was recorded during the survey, the site contains potentially suitable habitats (including the detached garage) for use by nesting birds during the breeding season, some of which will be disturbed/removed to facilitate the proposals.’ The report therefore recommends that ‘The disturbance/removal of potentially suitable breeding bird habitat should ideally be undertaken outside of the breeding bird season (avoiding March-July/August). If it is necessary to conduct this work during the breeding season, it should be carried out under the supervision of an experienced ecologist, who will check for the presence/absence of any birds’ nests.  If any active nests are found then works with the potential to impact on the nest must cease and an appropriate buffer zone should be established until the young have fledged and the nest is no longer in use.’
	7.75	No reptiles were recorded during the surveys of the site.
	7.76	The conclusions and recommended ecological mitigation measures for the site are considered to be reasonable and can be secured by condition.
	Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance Mitigation Strategy (RAMS)
	7.77	The site falls within the Zone of Influence for one or more European designated sites scoped into the emerging Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance Mitigation Strategy (RAMS). It is the Council’s duty as a competent authority to undertake a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to secure any necessary mitigation and record this decision within the planning documentation. Any new residential development has the potential to cause disturbance to European designated sites and therefore the development must provide appropriate mitigation. This is necessary to meet the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. The RAMS Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), was adopted by Full Council on 29th October 2020, requires that a tariff of £137.71 (index linked) is paid per dwelling unit. This will be transferred to the RAMS accountable body in accordance with the RAMS Partnership Agreement. This payment will be secured via the S106. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	7.78	Overall, subject to a condition requiring the mitigation measures set out in the ecology statement to be implemented and the RAMS contribution to be secured, the proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in terms of ecology in all relevant regards.
	7.79	The Site Investigation report has found that there is a low risk from land contamination due to the site history. This is consistent with any information that the Council holds. The proposal is considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	Trees and Landscaping
	7.80	The site is quite overgrown including a number of small trees on the west, south and east boundary. All of the trees on the site are category C or U and are proposed to be removed but will be replaced by 20 new native trees throughout the site including a feature tree on the front boundary which will contribute to the tree cover in Chalkwell Avenue which has a noticeable gap in front of the application site. Boundary tree planting is proposed to the east and west sides of the site to provide enclosure to the street and screening to the neighbours. Year-round shrub planting and block paving is proposed throughout the site to provide an attractive setting for the building. The front boundary will be enclosed with a 1m brick wall to match others in the street.
	7.81	There is a mandatory requirement to achieve at least a 10% biodiversity net gain increase in the biodiversity value of the site. A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy has also been submitted with the application which recommends the inclusion of areas of wildflower grassland, including on the lower roof above the entrance, native tree and hedge planting and measures to promote wildlife at the site including 6 bat boxes, 6 swift boxes and 2 invertebrate boxes. The report concludes that the loss of habitat (-39.38%) at the site will be mitigated by the planting of new hedges (47.85%) resulting in a biodiversity net gain at the site. These recommendations can be secured by condition. The proposal is considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.

	Archaeology
	7.82	An Archaeological Desk Based Assessment has been submitted with the application. This concludes that the site has a low archaeological potential at the study site for all past periods of human activity and no further archaeological works are recommended. The Council’s Archaeology Officer agrees with this conclusion. The proposal is considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.
	7.83	Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states that: “Planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of the following tests:
	a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms
	b) directly related to the development; and
	c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.”
	7.84	Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states ‘Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from development, planning applications that comply with them should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the application stage.’
	7.85	The National Planning Practice Guide makes it clear that ‘Planning obligations can provide flexibility in ensuring planning permission responds to site and scheme specific circumstances. Where planning obligations are negotiated on the grounds of viability it is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for viability assessment at the application stage. The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker.’
	7.86	Core Strategy Police KP3 requires that: “In order to help the delivery of the Plan’s provisions the Borough Council will:
	2. Enter into planning obligations with developers to ensure the provision of infrastructure and transportation measures required as a consequence of the development proposed.  This includes provisions such as:
	a. roads, sewers, servicing facilities and car parking;
	b. improvements to cycling, walking and passenger transport facilities and services;
	c. off-site flood protection or mitigation measures, including sustainable drainage systems (SUDS);
	d. affordable housing;
	e. educational facilities;
	f. open space, ‘green grid’, recreational, sport or other community development and environmental enhancements, including the provision of public art where appropriate;
	g. any other works, measures or actions required as a consequence of the proposed development; and
	h. appropriate on-going maintenance requirements.”
	7.87	The following planning obligations have been agreed with the applicant:
	NHS Contribution
	7.88	The NHS requested a financial contribution of £12,700 towards the delivery of GP services in the area. This figure, provided by the NHS is based on their identification of an existing deficit of GP services in the area and their predicted population increase of approximately 62 new residents as a result of the development. This figure is based on the average census household size of 2.3 people per dwelling, the requirement for 120sqm of surgery floorspace for every 1750 patients and the average cost of new build extensions to health centres.
	7.89	The agent has responded to this, setting out a range of factors for why they do not consider the contribution request to be justified including in terms of Regulation . In any event and as confirmed by the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document 2: Planning Obligations  confirms that funding for potential primary healthcare care is addressed through the Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy, which will be secured here in any event, rather than planning obligations.
	7.90	The contributions noted in paragraph 7.89 above are considered to meet the tests set out in the CIL Regulations 2010. Without these contributions the development could not be considered acceptable. A draft S106 agreement is currently being prepared but at the time of report preparation has not been formally agreed or completed. The recommendation of this report seeks this committee’s approval subject to the completion of this agreement.
	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
	7.91	This application is CIL liable and there will be a CIL charge payable. In accordance with Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 143 of the Localism Act 2011) and Section 155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, CIL is being reported as a material ‘local finance consideration’ for the purpose of planning decisions. The proposed development includes a gross internal area of  2,639.25 sqm, which may equate to a CIL charge of approximately £72,071.83 (subject to confirmation).  Any existing floor area that is being retained/demolished that satisfies the ‘in-use building’ test, as set out in the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended), may be deducted from the chargeable area thus resulting in a reduction in the chargeable amount.
	7.92	The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation.

	Planning Balance and Housing Supply
	7.93	The results of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) published by the Government show that there is underperformance of housing delivery in the City. Similarly, the Council’s Five-Year Housing Land Supply (5YHLS) figure shows that there is a deficit in housing land supply in the City. The South Essex Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SESHMA) identifies that Southend has a higher proportion of flats/maisonettes and a housing stock comprised of a greater proportion of one-bed units and smaller properties a consequence of which is that there is a lower percentage of accommodation of a suitable size for families. For the proposed provision of housing the HDT and 5YHLS weigh in favour of the principle of this type of development. This proposal would provide 27 new dwellings for which there is an identified need. In these circumstances, the provision of additional housing is a consideration which should be given increased weight in a balancing exercise.
	7.94	Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that subject to compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed development would be acceptable and compliant with the objectives of the relevant development plan policies and guidance. The principle of the redevelopment and use is acceptable. The proposed design, and scale of the development would, on balance, have an acceptable impact on the site and wider streetscene. Subject to conditions the proposal would, on balance, have an acceptable impact on the amenities of neighbours. The proposal would provide an acceptable standard of accommodation for new occupiers. There would be no significant harmful traffic, parking or highways impacts caused by the proposed development. The proposal would also have an acceptable impact on sustainability and ecology.
	7.95	The proposal has been found by officers to be acceptable in all relevant regards and is recommended for approval on its individual merits subject to the completion of a S106 and conditions. Should Members identify harm then firstly it will be appropriate to consider, and weigh in the balance as appropriate, the relationship impacts resulting from the existing built form on the site. Secondly, any identified harm will also need to be balanced against the public benefits of the proposal. This proposal creates new housing, therefore, when assessing the harm identified, it is necessary to demonstrate that, in reaching this decision, an appropriate balancing exercise has been undertaken considering the benefits of the proposal and any harm. The Council has a deficit in housing land supply so the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development should be applied when determining the application as relevant. The test set out by the National Planning Policy Framework is whether any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when considered against the policies of the Framework taken as a whole.

	8	Recommendation
	The drainage strategy and SuDS design statement must be implemented in full accordance with the details approved under this condition before the development hereby approved is first occupied or brought into first use.
	Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of surface water from the site for the lifetime of the development and to prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policy KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policy DM2 of the Development Management Document  (2015).
	C) In the event that the planning obligation referred to in part (a) above has not been completed before 11th February  2023 or an extension of this time as may be agreed by the Director of Planning or Service Manager - Development Control, authority is delegated to the Director of Planning or Service Manager - Development Control to refuse planning permission for the application on grounds that the development will not secure the necessary contributions for affordable housing, biodiversity mitigation or Travel Plan and Travel Information Packs and that, as such, the proposal would be unacceptable and contrary to Policies KP2, KP3, CP3, CP6 and CP8 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1, DM3, DM7 and DM15 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	Positive and Proactive Statement:
	Informatives:
	2	You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction works to the highway in implementing this permission that Council will seek to recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please take care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths in the City.
	3	This permission is governed by a legal agreement between the applicant and the City Council under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.The agreement relates to the provision of a financial contribution in relation to affordable housing, a financial RAMS contribution, the provision of Travel Plan and Travel Information Packs and monitoring of the agreement.
	4	Cadent Gas Ltd own and operate the gas infrastructure within the area of your development. There may be a legal interest (easements and other rights) in the land that restrict activity in proximity to Cadent assets in private land. The applicant must ensure that the proposed works do not infringe on legal rights of access and or restrictive covenants that exist. If buildings or structures are proposed directly above the apparatus the development may only take place following diversion of the apparatus. The applicant should apply online to have apparatus diverted in advance of any works, by visiting cadentgas.com/diversions. Prior to carrying out works, including the construction of access points, please register on www.linesearchbeforeudig.co.uk to submit details of the planned works for review, ensuring requirements are adhered to.
	5	Prior to demolition of the existing buildings an appropriate Asbestos survey of the buildings should be undertaken and a scheme implemented to remove and safely dispose of any asbestos-containing materials in accordance with the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 and the applicant's/developer's Waste duty of care. 	It is recommended that the Council's Building Control Department is notified of the demolition in order that requirements can be made under section 81 of the Building Act 1984.
	6	Should any contaminated ground conditions or the existence, extent and concentrations of any landfill gas be found that was not previously identified or not considered in a scheme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the site or part thereof shall be re-assessed a scheme to bring the site to a suitable condition in that it represents an acceptable risk shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the local planning authority. Please note that it is the applicant s responsibility to ensure a safe site in terms of land contamination and that the site cannot be determined as contaminated land in the future as defined by Part2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

	LSE-2721-3-AC-102 Rev G - Site Plan and Street Scene
	Sheets and Views
	LSE-2721-3-AC-102


	proposed site plan and landscape strategy
	Sheets and Views
	200A1


	G and 01 plan
	Sheets and Views
	LSE-2721-3-AC-103


	02 and roof plan
	Sheets and Views
	LSE-2721-3-AC-104


	balcony details
	elevations
	Sheets and Views
	LSE-2721-3-AC-107


	coloured south elevation
	coloured front and rear elevations
	coloured north elevation
	coloured section and internal elevations
	coloured streetscene
	photos 20 chalkwell avenue
	Slide 1: 20 Chalkwell Avenue
	Slide 2: Application Property  
	Slide 3: Site and neighbour to north 
	Slide 4: Streetscene
	Slide 5: Site and neighbour to south
	Slide 6: Existing relationship to north boundary
	Slide 7: Existing side elevation facing neighbour to north 
	Slide 8: View from rear and existing  relationship with neighbour to north 
	Slide 9: Existing building viewed from neighbouring garden 18 Chalkwell Avenue
	Slide 10
	Slide 11: Rear Elevation 
	Slide 12: Rear elevation
	Slide 13: South side elevation and relationship to south boundary
	Slide 14: Existing outlook to south towards Kingswell
	Slide 15: Outlook to east towards properties in Imperial Avenue
	Slide 16: Looking north east from patio of 63 Imperial Avenue
	Slide 17: Looking towards the site from the garden of 63 Imperial Avenue


	5 21/00290/UNAU_B - 42 Tyrone Road, Thorpe Bay (Thorpe Ward)
	1	Site and Surroundings
	1.1	The site is on the eastern side of Tyrone Road. The site contains a three-storey detached dwelling. The dwelling is surrounded by traditional residential dwellinghouses. The site is not within a conservation area or a flood zone and is not subject to any site-specific planning policy designations.

	2	Lawful Planning Use
	2.1	The lawful planning use is as a dwellinghouse within Use Class C3 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).

	3	Relevant Planning History
	3.1	None.

	4	Planning Policy Summary
	4.1	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021)
	4.2	Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021)
	4.3	Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP2 (Development Principles), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance)
	4.4	Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of Land)
	4.5	Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)
	4.6	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)

	5	The alleged planning breach, harm caused and efforts to resolve breach to date
	5.1	The identified breach of planning control is:
	-	The erection of a single storey side extension and a part-single-, part-two-storey rear extension without planning permission.
	5.2	In October 2021 a complaint was received by the Council alleging a two-storey extension had been erected. No planning application has been submitted for this extension. The extension exceeds the limitations of householder permitted development rights, due to its size and scale.
	5.3	Contact has been made with the homeowner requesting the submission of a planning application for the works on numerous occasions. However, no further action has been undertaken by the homeowner in regard to submitting an application.
	Impact on the Character of the Area
	5.4	Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that it adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local context and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances the distinctiveness of place; and contributes positively to the space between buildings and their relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Design and Townscape Guide provide further details on how this can be achieved.
	5.5	No.42 sits within an unusually wide plot for the area. As a result, the garden wraps around the side and rear of the dwelling, resulting in the dwelling being highly visible from Tyrone Road. The part single, part two-storey rear extension is a large-scale addition to the rear of the property that can be seen from Tyrone Road. The rear extension is of a contrived and poor design, with a flat roof resulting in an incongruous addition that is materially out of keeping in the area. Given the size, scale and design of the rear addition and given its location and visibility from the streetscene, this part of the development results in significant harm to the character and appearance of the host dwelling, the streetscene and the wider surrounding area.
	5.6	The single-storey side extension is not particularly visible from the streetscene so  has a limited impact on the character of the streetscene. Whilst on its own this aspect of the development could be acceptable in design terms or impact on character, as part of the whole project, it forms part of the unacceptable and harmful development.
	5.7	The unauthorised development at the site is considered to be unacceptable and contrary to policy in terms of its impact on the character and appearance of the site, the streetscene and the area more widely. The unauthorised development is contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the National Design Guide (2021).
	Amenity Impacts
	5.8	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.
	5.9	A set of doors  have been  installed at first-floor level in the rear of the extension. Although at the time of the site visit there were no balustrades installed, there is a possibility that the owners wish to use the roof of the ground-floor rear extension as a balcony. Although there is currently some screening provided by trees between Nos. 42, 40, 46 Tyrone Road and Nos. 39, 41 and 43 The Broadway, these cannot reasonably be considered as mitigating elements with significant weight. Generally, trees could be removed or pruned or die of natural causes limiting any mitigation against overlooking they might currently offer. With this in mind, it is considered that the development is unacceptable in this respect and would result in significant harm to the residential amenity of the adjoining and nearby residents in terms of overlooking and loss of privacy.
	5.10	The part single storey, part two storey rear extension  is 5.3m high and extends beyond the rear of the  host dwelling by a maximum of 5m. The single storey side extension is located along the boundary of the neighbouring property, No. 40 and the rear extension is connected to this. No.40 has two sets of openings on its ground floor rear elevation, both of which, on balance, are considered to serve as primary sources of light and outlook for habitable rooms. Given its location on the boundary and the significant depth of the ground-floor part of the rear enlargement and the additional rear bulk at first-floor level, the development results in a significantly harmful sense of enclosure and overbearing impact to the neighbour to the south; No.40 Tyrone Road.
	5.11	It is considered that the amenity impacts of the unauthorised development, in terms of overlooking, creating a material sense of enclosure and an overbearing impact are of a significant degree and cause significant and demonstrable harm to the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers, particularly those at No. 40 Tyrone Road. The unauthorised development is therefore contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the National Design Guide (2021).
	Enforcement Action
	5.12	Given the significant harm identified above, it is reasonable, expedient and in the public interest to pursue enforcement action in the circumstances of this case. Enforcement action in this case will reasonably aim to secure the removal of the unauthorised side and rear extensions in their entirety and remove from the site all materials resulting from compliance with the removal of the extensions. No lesser steps that could remedy the identified breach or associated harm have been identified.
	5.13	Staff consider that taking enforcement action is proportionate and justified in the circumstances of the case and that an enforcement notice should be served as this will bring further focus to the need for the breach to be regularised and the identified harm to be remedied. Service of an enforcement notice carries its own right of appeal and does not fetter the owner in seeking to gain planning permission for a different proposal which remedies the identified harm.
	5.14	Taking enforcement action in this case may amount to an interference with the owner/occupier’s human rights. However, it is necessary for the Council to balance the rights of the owner/occupiers against the legitimate aims of the Council to regulate and control land within its area in the public interest.

	6	Equality and Diversity Issues
	6.1	The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, and victimisation, and must advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. Officers have, in considering this planning enforcement case and preparing this report, had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation.

	7	Recommendation
	7.1	Members are recommended to AUTHORISE ENFORCEMENT ACTION to:
	a)	Remove from the site the side and rear extensions in their entirety, and
	b)	Remove from site all materials resulting from compliance with a)
	7.2	The authorised enforcement action to include (if/as necessary) the service of an Enforcement Notice under Section 172 of the Act and the pursuance of proceedings whether by prosecution or injunction to secure compliance with the requirements of the Enforcement Notice.
	7.3	When serving an Enforcement Notice the Local Planning Authority must ensure a reasonable time for compliance. In this case a compliance period of 3 months is considered reasonable for the removal of the unauthorised extensions.

	21-00290-UNAU_B -  42 Tyrone Road site photos
	Slide 1: 42 Tyrone Road
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9


	6 19/00204/UNAU_B - 34 Retreat Road, Westcliff-on-Sea (Milton Ward)
	1	Site and Surroundings
	1.1	This site on the eastern side of Retreat Road  contains a mid-terraced building, which has been converted from a single dwellinghouse into flats. The building is surrounded by traditional residential dwellinghouses. The site is not within a conservation area or a flood zone and is not subject to any site-specific planning policy designations.

	2	Lawful Planning Use
	2.1	The lawful planning use of the site is as a residential dwelling (flat) within Class C3 (a) of the Town and Country Planning (Use Class Order) 1987 (as amended).

	3	Relevant Planning History
	3.1	None.

	4	Planning Policy Summary
	4.1	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021)
	4.2	Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – National Design Guide (NDG) (2021)
	4.3	Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP2 (Development Principles), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance)
	4.4	Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of Land)
	4.5	Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)
	4.6	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)

	5	The alleged planning breach, harm caused and efforts to resolve breach to date
	5.1	The identified breach of planning control is:
	-	The erection of a balcony to the rear of the building.
	5.2	In July 2019 a complaint was received by the Council alleging that a balcony had been created or extended at No 34 Retreat Road. No planning application has been submitted for the balcony and it could not have been created or enlarged under permitted development provisions as the site is a flat.
	5.3	Contact has been made with the owner/occupier requesting the submission of a planning application for the works on numerous occasions, including reasonably allowing for setbacks due to the Covid-19 pandemic. However, no further action has been undertaken by the homeowner in regard to submitting an application or otherwise remedying the identified harm.
	Amenity Impacts
	5.4	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.
	5.5	No.34 sits within a row of eleven terraced buildings, originally constructed as dwellinghouses. No.34 has a shared boundary with No. 32 and No.36. The balcony is located to the rear elevation of an existing rear outrigger, which is joined to No.32, and is accessed by a staircase connecting the rear garden to the first floor flat. Whilst a staircase and a landing platform had been a feature of this elevation historically, and is replicated on several properties nearby, the previously installed platform served solely as an access function and was not large enough to allow use as an external seating area and was narrower than the development currently on site. The balcony is along the shared boundary with No.32, sitting directly above the amenity space of that neighbour. Due to the location and size of the balcony as well as the height at which the balcony is positioned, it is considered that the development causes significant harm to the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers of No.32 in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and in terms of creating an overbearing relationship.
	5.6	In regard to No. 36, there is a small separation between the rear outrigger, where the balcony is located, and the shared boundary. Whilst it is noted that No.36 also has a staircase connecting the garden with a first-floor platform at the rear, that platform is not large enough to be used as a balcony. Despite the separation distance from that neighbour, it is considered that any occupiers using the balcony will be able to look directly onto No. 36’s rear amenity space. Therefore, it is considered that the development is harmful to the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers of the ground floor flat at No.36 in terms of overlooking and a loss of privacy.
	5.7	The relationship with other neighbouring properties is considered acceptable due to the separation distances involved or giving weight to the relationship prior to the balcony being installed at the site.
	5.8	It is considered that the amenity impacts of the unauthorised development, in terms of overlooking and loss of privacy are of a significant degree and cause significant and demonstrable harm to the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers at Nos. 32 and 36 Retreat Road. The development has also created an overbearing effect to the detriment of the residential amenity of No. 32 Retreat Road. The unauthorised development is therefore contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the National Design Guide (2021).
	Enforcement Action
	5.9	Given the harm identified above, it is reasonable, expedient and in the public interest to pursue enforcement action in the circumstances of this case. Enforcement action in this case will reasonably aim to secure the removal of the unauthorised rear balcony in its entirety and remove from the site all materials resulting from compliance with the removal of the balcony. It is considered that there are no lesser steps that could remedy the identified breach or associated harm. Installing a platform to facilitate access would require separate planning permission and a reasonable timeframe for compliance ought to take this into account.
	5.10	Staff consider that taking enforcement action is proportionate and justified in the circumstances of the case and that an enforcement notice should be served as this will bring further focus to the need for the breach to be regularised and the identified harm to be remedied. Service of an enforcement notice carries its own right of appeal and does not fetter the owner in seeking to gain planning permission for a different proposal which remedies the identified harm.
	5.11	Taking enforcement action in this case may amount to an interference with the owner/occupier’s human rights. However, it is necessary for the Council to balance the rights of the owner/occupiers against the legitimate aims of the Council to regulate and control land within its area in the public interest.

	6	Equality and Diversity Issues
	6.1	The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, and victimisation, and must advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. Officers have in considering this planning enforcement case and preparing this report had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation.

	7	Recommendation
	7.1	Members are recommended to AUTHORISE ENFORCEMENT ACTION to:
	a)	Remove from the site the rear balcony in its entirety, and
	b)	Remove from site all materials resulting from compliance with a)
	7.2	The authorised enforcement action to include (if/as necessary) the service of an Enforcement Notice under Section 172 of the Act and the pursuance of proceedings whether by prosecution or injunction to secure compliance with the requirements of the Enforcement Notice.
	7.3	When serving an Enforcement Notice the Local Planning Authority must ensure a reasonable time for compliance. In this case a compliance period of 5 months is considered reasonable for the removal of the unauthorised balcony and the materials resulting in compliance with this.

	34 Retreat Road site photos
	Slide 1: 34 Retreat Road
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6



